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Background to the ICAV  
 
Description 
The following information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with the full text and definitions section of 
the Prospectus and Supplement to the Prospectus.  
 

ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV (the “ICAV”) is an open-ended umbrella Irish collective asset-management 
vehicle with segregated liability between its Sub-Funds. The ICAV was registered under the Irish Collective Asset-
management Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended) (the “ICAV Act”) on 20 March 2017 and received authorisation from the 
Central Bank of Ireland (the “Central Bank”) on 22 September 2017 as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) in accordance with the provisions of the European Communities (Undertakings for 
Collecting Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011, (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the 
Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”). The reporting code assigned to the 
ICAV is C167077.  
 

The instrument of incorporation (“Instrument”) provides that the ICAV may offer separate classes of shares, each 
representing interests in a Sub-Fund with each Sub-Fund comprising a separate and distinct portfolio of investments. 
The assets of each Sub-Fund will be invested separately on behalf of each Sub-Fund in accordance with the investment 
objective and policies of each Sub-Fund and the assets and liabilities of each Sub-Fund are segregated as a matter of 
Irish law. The value of the shares of each Sub-Fund shall at all times equal their net asset value. The base currency of 
each Sub-Fund will be determined by the Directors and will be set out in the Prospectus and/or Supplement for the 
relevant Sub-Fund. 
 

As at 30 June 2024, the ICAV has one active Sub-Fund: 
 

  Approval Date   Launch Date  
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund  22 September 2017   3 October 2017 
 

As at 30 June 2024, the ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund (the “Fund”) had the following share classes in issue: 
 
Series A US Dollar Unhedged 
Share Class (Inc) 

Series A US Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series A EUR Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series A EUR Hedged Share Class 
(Inc) 

Series A GBP Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series A GBP Hedged Share Class 
(Inc) 

Series A Australian Dollar 
Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 

Series A Australian Dollar Hedged 
Share Class (Inc) 

Series B GBP Hedged Share Class 
(Inc) 

Series B EUR Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series B GBP Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series B EUR Hedged Share Class 
(Inc) 

Series C USD Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series C EUR Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series C GBP Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) 

Series C GBP Hedged Share Class 
(Inc) 

Series B EUR Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series C USD Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series B USD Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series C EUR Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series B GBP Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series B GBP Hedged Share Class 
(Acc) 

Series R USD Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series C GBP Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc) 

Series C GBP Hedged Share Class 
(Acc) 

 

 
See the Supplement of the Fund for further details. The creation of further classes must be notified to, and cleared in 
advance with, the Central Bank. The reporting code assigned to the Fund is C173855. 
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Background to the ICAV (Continued) 
 
Investment Objective and Policy 
The investment objectives and policies for each Sub-Fund will be formulated by the ICAV at the time of creation of that 
Sub-Fund and specified in the relevant Supplement to the Prospectus. The investment objective for the Fund is set out 
below. 
 

The Fund’s investment objective is to provide a combination of income and capital appreciation by investing in a 
portfolio of global infrastructure equity investments. 
 

The investment policies of the Fund are as follows: 
 

The Fund will seek to achieve its investment objective by investing in a portfolio of equity and equity related securities 
listed on stock exchanges in the developed and developing nations. 
 
The portfolio of equities and equity related securities will be issued by, or provide exposure to, global companies 
engaged in infrastructure related activities in various sectors, including essential services (which may include electric, 
gas and water utilities and companies with similar characteristics), transport (which may include toll roads, bridges, 
tunnels, rail infrastructure, airports, ports and companies with similar characteristics), communications (satellite, 
wireless tower and other communication network related companies) and community and social infrastructure (which 
may include education, public housing, prison, stadia and related facilities and infrastructure). The Fund may not invest 
more than 10% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund in emerging markets.  
 
The Fund may use forward contracts to hedge currency exposures at Share Class level. 
 

Investment Management 
ATLAS Infrastructure Partners (UK) Limited serves as the Investment Manager (the “Investment Manager” or 
“ATLAS”) to the ICAV pursuant to an investment management agreement dated 22 September 2017. 
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Investment Manager’s Report  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
The following table outlines the performance achieved for each Series A share class over the 12 months against the 
absolute return benchmark (G7 Inflation, plus 5% in local currency) and the reference index as represented by the FTSE 
Developed Core Infrastructure 50/50 Index - Net Return (in equivalent local currency and either hedged or unhedged): 

Series & 
Currency 

ATLAS Funds* 
(Hedged) 

Ref Index^ 
(Hedged) 

ATLAS Funds 
(Unhedged) 

Ref Index^ 
(Unhedged) 

Absolute 
Benchmark* 

Series A USD  -1.9% 4.7% -4.0%  2.7% 8.2%  

Series A EUR  -3.9% 2.4%  -2.3% 4.6% 8.2% 

Series A GBP  -2.5%  3.7%  -3.5% 3.3% 8.2% 

Series A AUD  -3.9%  2.6%  -4.4% 2.4% 8.2% 

* ATLAS Benchmark is G7 Inflation +5%  
^ Reference index is the FTSE Developed Core Infrastructure 50/50 Index 
All returns are net of expenses. 
 
For the year 30 June 2024, global listed infrastructure as an asset class returned 4.7% (local currency), substantially 
underperforming general equities which returned 21.9% (local currency). The market was impacted by two key 
narratives over the year, the perceived trajectory of interest rates and the performance of mega-tech stocks 
(‘Magnificent Seven’) and broader AI euphoria. Following initial strong inflation and economic data, Q3 2023 saw a 
sell-off in global equities, particularly those with bond rate exposures. A material shift in global sentiment commenced 
in Q4 2023 (and continued in Q1 2024) resulting in equities and risk assets repricing off the back of falling inflation. 
However, by the end of Q1 2024, markets had reverted to a more bearish view on the timing and number of rate cuts 
across 2024 in the US, as economic data continued to remain robust.  

Within the listed infrastructure sector, Pipelines & Storage (+2.7%) and Electric Utilities (+1.8%) were the top 
performers, led by the relative outperformance in North America, driven by the emergence of the AI thematic which 
saw asset classes with links to data centres power demand and incremental generation build-out benefitting. Other 
factors for Pipelines & Storage included tailwinds from stronger commodity prices and political momentum resulting in 
a shift in expectations to a slower energy transition in Europe and the US with oil, gas and thermal generation exposed 
utilities benefitting contrasting with continued weakness for clean energy and renewables. Airports (+1.1%) also 
continued to rebound post Covid, with forward capacity continuing to strengthen in several key markets. Key detractors 
included Communications (-0.4%) and Asia-Pacific Toll Roads (-0.9%). In each case, the declines driven by assets with 
weaker inflation and/or bond rate protection. 

The ATLAS Global strategy returned -1.3% (local currency), largely owing to the position in Orsted (Renewables), SES 
(Communications) and ADP (Airports). On an absolute basis, Electric Utilities were the largest positive contributor 
(+1.9%, local currency), where our holdings outperformed the returns in both the UK/Europe and North American 
markets.  

Relative to the FTSE Developed Core Infrastructure 50/50 index, our allocation to UK/Europe contributed +1.6% and 
our lower exposure to North America detracted -0.2%. Our lack of exposure to Asia-Pacific contributed +0.9%. Within 
sectors, our selection in UK/Europe detracted -8.3% driven by Renewables and Airports, which was slightly offset by 
our selection in European Communications (+1.2%) and European Railways (+0.5%). 

 

 

 



ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV  Annual Report and Audited 
 Financial Statements 2024 
 

 

6 
  

Investment Manager’s Report (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024  

The key contributors to the performance of the Fund over the year were as follows: 

Stock Sector Region Contribution (Local 
Currency) 

United Utilities Group Water UK / Europe +0.8% 

Edison International Electric North America +0.6% 

Enel SpA Electric UK / Europe +0.6% 

Source: FactSet, ATLAS calculations 
 
United Utilities is a UK regulated water and wastewater provider. In October, alongside the rest of the sector, the 
company announced their business plans for the 2026-2030 control period which included a significant increase in 
expenditures vs. the 2020-2025 period of more than 80% with the objective of addressing new commitment levels and 
standards in leakage, customer experience, storm overflow reduction and other areas. We see this increase in spending 
as positive for both investors and customers and we have been encouraged by the response so far from Ofwat and the 
Government. The announcement in October led to a substantial re-rating of the company by the market. 
 
Edison International, through its subsidiary Southern California Edison, is an electric utility company which serves 
the central, coastal, and southern area of California. In December, the California Public Utilities Commission confirmed 
that authorised Return on Equity for the state’s electric and gas utilities including Edison International would increase 
by 70bp in 2024 due to an automatic adjustment connected to US bond yields exceeding the dead-band threshold. We 
note that this form of regulatory adjustment mechanism is not at all common amongst US utilities and represents a form 
of risk mitigation for the Californian utilities in the event of sustained higher interest rates. This combined with higher 
than consensus reported earnings in both Q4 2023 and Q1 2024 has resulted in a positive share price re-rating. 
 
Enel is one of Europe’s largest integrated utilities that engages in electricity distribution, generation and supply across 
the EU, Latin America and the US and is a monopoly operator of Italy’s electricity distribution grid. Enel is also a 
leading name in the green power transition with over 50GW of operational renewable capacity and a further 113GW of 
mature capacity in the pipeline. We bought into Enel after the company share price had been adversely impacted by the 
uncertainty around the state of European gas and electric markets in Q1 2022. The resilience of the Enel regulated 
assets and renewable portfolio, combined with the easing of concerns around the European Energy crisis, higher 
merchant pricing in Italy and continued strong guidance and retail margins relative to past performance has led to a 
substantial re-rating of the company by the market. 
 
The key detractors to the performance of the Fund over the year were as follows: 
 

Stock Sector Region Contribution (Local 
Currency) 

Orsted Renewables UK / Europe -2.7% 

Aeroports de Paris Airport UK / Europe -0.7% 

SES SA FDR (Class A) Comms UK / Europe -0.6% 

Source: FactSet, ATLAS calculations 
 
Orsted is a Danish renewables company which develops, constructs, and operates offshore and onshore wind farms, 
solar farms and other renewable and green fuel facilities. The share price fell following announcements around large 
scale impairments of its US offshore wind business due to supply chain issues and changes in the macro environment 
driven by rapid interest rate rises. Following this, the company announced a number of measures including a dividend 
holiday, reduction in pipeline and an acceleration of farm-downs to prevent an equity raise, however, S&P still 
downgraded the stock following full year results. We continue to see the Orsted position as attractive, with the current 
share price still below our current intrinsic value. 
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Investment Manager’s Report (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

Aeroports de Paris (ADP) operates the three airports in Paris, as well as operating several international operations. At 
the end of 2023, the French government released a draft bill which sought to tax operators of long-distance 
infrastructure assets including toll roads and airports from 2024. The news surprised the market, as commentary to date 
had been focusing the new potential tax only on the toll road concessionaires. Following discussions with management 
who noted they would not fight the bill and recoupment of the tax would not be a pass-through, we exited our position, 
as we saw the outcome as a reinforcement of ADP’s limited bargaining position within their regulatory construct, and 
the ongoing risk to cashflows from the French “social contract”. 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the Fund held 21 positions and the top 10 holdings were: 
 

Holding Country^ Sector Weight 

National Grid plc United Kingdom Electric 7.8 

Edison International United States Electric 7.6 

United Utilities Group PLC United Kingdom Water 7.4 

Terna S.p.A. Italy Electric 7.4 

SES SA FDR (Class A) France Comms 6.3 

Pinnacle West Capital Corporation United States Electric 4.8 

Avangrid, Inc. United States Electric 4.6 

Portland General Electric Company United States Electric 4.6 

Severn Trent Plc United Kingdom Water 4.6 

Snam S.p.A. Italy Gas 4.5 

^Country of Exchange 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the portfolio is weighted to those sectors with the highest prospective returns being regulated 
utilities, including electric and water. In keeping with our approach of selecting stocks based on fundamental valuations, 
the portfolio has a stronger weighting towards UK and European stocks. The portfolio is well positioned with respect to 
having better inflation and stagflation characteristics than the investment universe. 
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Investment Manager’s Report (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

Sector (%) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Country (%) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATLAS Infrastructure Partners (UK) Ltd.  
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Directors’ Report  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV (the “Directors”) present the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2024.  
 
Principal Activities  
A detailed review of the Fund’s activities for the year ended 30 June 2024 is included in the Investment Manager’s 
Report on pages 5-8. 
 
Directors’ Responsibilities Statement  
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and financial statements, in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 
 
The ICAV Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union (“EU”). 
 
The financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the 
ICAV at the end of the financial year and of the changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares in the ICAV for the financial year. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  
• state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 

and explained in the financial statements; 
• assess the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern; and 
• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the ICAV or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the assets, liabilities, financial position of the ICAV and changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares in the ICAV and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the ICAV Act and 
the UCITS Regulations and Central Bank UCITS Regulations. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as 
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the ICAV. In this regard they have entrusted the assets of the 
ICAV to a trustee for safe-keeping. They are responsible for such internal controls as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ 
Report that complies with the requirements of the ICAV Act. 
 
Results, Financial Position and Dividends 
The results of operations for the year and financial position as at the year-end are set out in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position respectively. Details of distributions during the year are 
disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements. 
 
Risk management objectives and policies  
The main risks arising from the Fund’s financial instruments as defined by IFRS 7 for financial reporting purposes are 
market risk (including market price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk as 
detailed, together with the associated risk management objectives and policies, in Note 9 to the financial statements. 
 
Directors who held office during the year  
The Directors who held office at any time during the year were: Gerry Brady, Stephen Finn, Carl Chambers and Clinton 
Joyner. 
 
Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests in Shares of the ICAV and its Fund  
None of the Directors or the Secretary had any interests in the shares of the ICAV or its Fund at the year-end or at any 
time during the year (30 June 2023: same). 
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Directors’ Report (Continued) 
 
Transactions involving Directors  
Other than as disclosed in Note 4 and Note 14 to the financial statements, there were no contracts or agreements of any 
significance in relation to the business of the ICAV or the Fund in which the Directors had any interest, as defined in 
the ICAV Act, at any time during the year. 
 
Transactions with Connected Persons  
Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations requires in effect that any transaction carried out with a 
UCITS by a management company or depositary to the UCITS, the delegates or sub-delegates of the management 
company or depositary, and any associated or group companies of such a management company, depositary, delegate or 
sub-delegate (“connected persons”) must be carried out as if negotiated at arm’s length. Transactions must be in the best 
interests of the shareholders.  
 
The Manager is satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written procedures) in place to ensure that the 
obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions with 
connected persons, and are satisfied that transactions with connected persons entered into during the year complied with 
the obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations. 
 
Accounting Records  
The Directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of Sections 109 to 113 of the ICAV Act, with 
regard to keeping adequate accounting records. The Directors have appointed Waystone Management Company (IE) 
Limited who in turn has appointed Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited to 
maintain adequate accounting records. The address at which this business is located is as follows:  
 
Georges Court  
54-62 Townsend Street  
Dublin 2  
D02 R156 
Ireland 
 
Significant Events during the Year  
Significant events during the year are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements. 
 
Significant Events after the Year End  
Significant events after the year end are disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements. 
 
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) 
Irish Funds, the association for the funds industry in Ireland, has published a corporate governance code that may be 
adopted on a voluntary basis by Irish authorised investment funds. The Board of Directors have adopted the Code, and 
the ICAV was in compliance with all elements of the Code during the year. 
 
Auditors 
The independent auditors, KPMG, Chartered Accountants, have expressed their willingness to continue in accordance 
with Section 125(5) of the ICAV Act. 
 
Signed on Behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
______________     _______________ 
Stephen Finn     Gerry Brady 
Director     Director 
22 October 2024     22 October 2024 
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Depositary’s Report to the Shareholders  
 
We, Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited, appointed Depositary to ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS 
ICAV (the “ICAV”) provide this report solely in favour of the shareholders of the ICAV for the year ended 30 June 
2024 (“Accounting Period”). This report is provided in accordance with the UCITS Regulations – European 
Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (SI No 352 of 
2011) as amended, which implemented Directive 2009/65/EU into Irish Law (the “Regulations”). We do not, in the 
provision of this report, accept nor assume responsibility for any other purpose or person to whom this report is shown.  
 
In accordance with our Depositary obligation as provided for under the Regulations, we have enquired into the conduct 
of the ICAV for this Accounting Period and we hereby report thereon to the shareholders of the ICAV as follows:  
 
We are of the opinion that the ICAV has been managed during the Accounting Period, in all material respects:  
 
(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the ICAV by the 
constitutional document and by the Regulations; and  
 
(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the constitutional document and the Regulations.  
 
 
 
For and on behalf of  
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited  
Georges Court  
54-62 Townsend Street  
Dublin 2  
D02 R156 
Ireland 
 
22 October 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

dc218
Stamp



KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global 
organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee 

KPMG 

Audit 
1 Harbourmaster Place 
IFSC 
Dublin 1 
D01 F6F5 
Ireland 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Atlas Global Infrastructure UCITS 
ICAV 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Atlas Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV (‘the ICAV’) 
for the year ended 30 June 2024 set out on pages 15 to 47, which comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares, the Statement of Cash 
Flows and related notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 
1. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

In our opinion: 

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position
of the ICAV as at 30 June 2024 and of its changes in net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares for the year then ended;

- the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by
the European Union; and

- the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Acts 2015 to 2021 and the Central Bank
(Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective
Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 
(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the ICAV in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the 
ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the 
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report. 



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Atlas Global Infrastructure UCITS 
ICAV (continued) 
Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together 
with the financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Directors’ report, Investments manager’s reports, company information and unaudited 
appendices. The financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon do not comprise part of 
the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated 
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work 
undertaken during the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the 
other information. 

Based solely on our work on the other information undertaken during the course of the audit, we 
report that: 

- we have not identified material misstatements in the directors‘ report;

- in our opinion, the information given in the directors‘ report is consistent with the financial
statements; and

- in our opinion, the directors‘ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2014.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles 
Acts 2015 to 2021 

In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial 
statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

The Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Acts 2015 to 2021 requires us to report to you, 
if in our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use 

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 9, the 
directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; assessing the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they either intend to liquidate the ICAV or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Atlas Global Infrastructure UCITS 
ICAV (continued) 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA’s website at 
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-
financial-statements/. 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

Our report is made solely to the shareholders of the ICAV, as a body, in accordance with the 
Section 120 of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the ICAV‘s shareholders those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the ICAV and 
the ICAV’s shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

25 October 2024 
Liam McNally 
for and on behalf of  
KPMG 
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm 
1 Harbourmaster Place 
IFSC 
Dublin 1 
D01 F6F5 

https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements/
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements/
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

USD USD
Year Ended Year Ended

Notes 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
USD USD

Income
Dividend income                     79,966,374                        78,122,364 
Net (losses)/gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss and foreign currencies 3                 (124,511,326)                        84,739,491 
Bank interest income                       2,161,845                          1,522,943 
Investment management fee rebate 4                          919,790                             931,920 
Net investment (loss)/income                (41,463,317)                   165,316,718 

Operating expenses
Administration fees 4                        (940,582)                            (948,117)
Audit fees 4                          (33,287)                              (40,900)
Depositary fees 4                        (579,999)                            (611,565)
Directors’ fees 4                          (32,763)                              (30,673)
Management fees 4                        (567,342)                            (541,816)
Investment management fees 4                     (8,250,182)                         (7,741,254)
Other expenses 5                        (430,067)                            (319,850)
Total operating expenses                (10,834,222)                    (10,234,175)

Net (loss)/income from operations before finance costs and tax                (52,297,539)                   155,082,543 

Finance costs
Bank interest expense                        (447,415)                            (292,617)
Distributions paid 15                   (72,045,796)                       (54,381,242)
Total finance costs                (72,493,211)                    (54,673,859)

Net (loss)/income from operations after finance costs and 
before tax              (124,790,750)                   100,408,684 

Withholding tax                     (9,643,997)                         (6,195,144)

             (134,434,747)                      94,213,540 
Change in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares resulting from operations

 
  
There were no recognised gains or losses arising in the year other than those included above. In arriving at the results 
for the year, all amounts above relate to continuing operations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

As at As at
Notes 30 June 2024 30 June 2023

USD USD
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
    Equities 9,10                1,749,326,703               1,975,220,825 
    Derivative financial instruments 9,10                       1,012,051                           49,964 
Cash and cash equivalents 8                     26,911,840                    44,980,163 
Securities sold receivable                       1,360,094                      7,955,653 
Dividends receivable                     11,667,987                    11,235,728 
Investment management fee rebate receivable 4                          258,302                         339,629 
Subscriptions receivable                     12,350,841                      6,412,442 
Other receivables 7                          193,096                         187,429 
Total assets            1,803,080,914            2,046,381,833 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
    Derivative financial instruments 9,10                        (132,974)                    (1,982,892)
Administration fees payable 4                          (68,408)                       (170,051)
Audit fees payable                          (42,771)                         (41,907)
Depositary fees payable 4                          (46,589)                       (106,088)
Management fees payable 4                        (122,684)                       (136,520)
Investment management fees payable 4                     (2,074,523)                    (2,004,209)
Securities purchased payable                     (6,574,583)                         (44,646)
Redemptions payable                     (5,032,966)                    (5,611,532)
Other payables and accrued expenses 6                        (144,296)                       (147,420)
Spot currency contract                                 (56)                         (49,527)
Total liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable participating shares)                (14,239,850)                (10,294,792)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares 13            1,788,841,064            2,036,087,041 

 
 
Signed on Behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
______________     _______________ 
Stephen Finn     Gerry Brady 
Director     Director 
 
 
22 October 2024 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 



ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV      Annual Report and Audited 
 Financial Statements 2024 

17 
  

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

Year Ended Year Ended
Notes 30 June 2024 30 June 2023

USD USD

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares 
at the beginning of the year                2,036,087,041                1,841,860,634 

Change in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares 
resulting from operations                 (134,434,747)                     94,213,540 
Issue of redeemable participating shares during the year 12                   322,665,817                   508,344,777 
Redemption of redeemable participating shares during the year 12                 (435,477,047)                 (408,331,910)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares
at the end of the year             1,788,841,064             2,036,087,041 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 



ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV      Annual Report and Audited 
 Financial Statements 2024 

18 
  

Statement of Cash Flows  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2024 30 June 2023

USD USD

Cash flows from operating activities

Change in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares resulting from operations

                (134,434,747)                     94,213,540 

Adjustments for:
Movement in financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss                   223,082,117                 (208,220,715)

Movement in operating receivables                       6,238,960                     (6,374,283)

Movement in operating payables                       6,373,542                   (14,543,003)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities                101,259,872              (134,924,461)
 
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares                   316,383,770                   501,608,368 

Payments of redemptions of redeemable participating shares                 (435,711,965)                 (402,398,920)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities              (119,328,195)                  99,209,448 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year                   (18,068,323)                   (35,715,013)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year                     44,980,163                     80,695,176 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                  26,911,840                  44,980,163 

Supplementary information USD USD
Bank interest received                       2,120,269                       1,392,977 
Bank interest paid                        (447,415)                        (292,617)
Dividends received                     69,890,118                     66,877,686 

Non-cash flows from financing activities include:
Switch Subscriptions                          343,648                          323,967 
Switch Redemptions                        (343,648)                        (323,967)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
1. Significant Accounting Policies  
 
 a) Basis of Preparation 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and with the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-management 
Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended) (the “ICAV Act”) and pursuant to the European Communities (Undertakings for 
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011, (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”) and 
the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment 
in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”). 
 
All references to Net Assets throughout this document refer to Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating Shares, unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention 
except for financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value. 
 
The Directors have made an assessment of the ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund’s (the “Fund”) ability to continue 
as a going concern and are satisfied that the Fund has the resources to continue for the foreseeable future. 
Furthermore, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the 
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States Dollar (“US Dollar” or “USD”) as the Directors have 
determined that this reflects the Fund’s primary economic environment. The presentation currency of the financial 
statements is also US Dollar and all figures have been rounded to the nearest US Dollar. 
 
Accounting Standards  
The Fund has adopted all applicable IFRS as endorsed by the European Union.  
 
New and amended accounting standards in issue that have been adopted: 
 
The following new and amended standards and interpretations that are effective for annual periods beginning 1 
January 2023, did not have a material effect on the Financial Statements of the ICAV.  
 
- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  
- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1  
- Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8  
- Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2  
- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction  - Amendments to IAS 12  
 
There are no other standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for annual periods 
beginning on 1 January 2023 that have a significant impact on the ICAV’s financial position, performance or 
disclosures in its financial statements. 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 January 2024 and have not been early adopted.  
 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 January 2024, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None of 
these are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Fund. 
 

 (i) Use of Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Directors to make use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Although these estimates are based on 
management’s best knowledge of the amounts, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those 
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas where estimates and 
assumptions are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 9. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
1. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 
 
(i) Use of Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements (Continued) 
 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the financial year in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that year or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future 
years. 
 
b) Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
 
(i) Classification  

• Assets  
The Fund classifies its investments based on both the Fund’s business model for managing those financial assets and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that 
information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions. The Fund has not taken the option to 
irrevocably designate any equity securities as fair value through other comprehensive income. Derivative contracts 
that have a positive fair value are presented as assets at fair value through profit or loss. Consequently, all 
investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
• Liabilities  
Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities as fair value through profit 
or loss. 
 
The Fund’s policy requires ATLAS Infrastructure Partners (UK) Limited (the “Investment Manager”), Waystone 
Management Company (IE) Limited (the “Manager”) and the Board of Directors to evaluate the information about 
these financial assets and liabilities on a fair value basis together with other related financial information.  
 
(ii) Recognition, Derecognition and Measurement  

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Investments are initially recognised at the fair value 
of acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are measured at fair value. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flow from the 
investments have expired or the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Gains and 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss’ category are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within net gains/losses on financial assets 
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  
 
The fair value of investments traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on 
the reporting date. The Fund utilises the last traded market price for such investments. 
 
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued based on the closing forward contract rates on the relevant foreign 
exchange market on the reporting date. Realised gains and losses and movements in unrealised gains and losses are 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
c) Impairment 
 
IFRS 9 requires the Fund to record the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on all assets at amortised cost, either on a 12 
month or lifetime basis. Given the limited exposure of the Fund to credit risk on the financial assets at amortised 
cost, this has not had a material impact on the financial statements.  
 
The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost have no financing component and have maturities of less than 12 
months and therefore the Fund has adopted the simplified approach to ECLs.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
1.  Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
c) Impairment (Continued) 
 
No ECL impairment allowance has been recorded against the Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost. The financial 
assets at amortised cost held by the Fund are cash and cash equivalents, securities sold receivable, dividend 
receivable, Investment management fee rebate receivable, subscriptions receivable and other receivables. 

 
d) Offsetting Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position where 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. During the year, there were no financial assets or liabilities 
subject to Master Netting Agreements in place (30 June 2023: Nil). 
 
e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term investments 
in an active market with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
repayable on demand. In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of any short-term 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Fund’s cash management.  
 
f) Transaction Costs 
 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued 
or disposed of the financial instrument.  

 
g) Income and Expense 
 
Dividend income on long positions is recognised as income on the date the securities are first quoted as “ex-
dividend”. Income is shown gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, and net of any tax credits. Interest income and expense are accounted for on 
an effective yield basis. Other income and expense items are accounted for on an accruals basis.  

 
h) Net Gains/(Losses) on Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

 
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include all realised and 
unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences but excludes dividend income. The Fund uses the 
average cost method to determine realised gains and losses. Net gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities are 
included in net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
i) Taxation 

 
Dividend and interest income or capital gains received by the Fund may be subject to withholding and other taxes 
imposed in the country of origin. Investment income or capital gains are recorded gross of such taxes and the 
corresponding tax is recognised as a tax expense. 

 
j) Redeemable Participating Shares 
 
The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual terms of the instrument. 
 
All redeemable participating shares issued by the Fund provide the Fund’s investors with the right to require 
redemption for cash at the value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s net assets at the redemption date.  
 
In accordance with IAS 32 such instruments give rise to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption 
amount. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
1.  Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

k) Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Translations  
 

The functional currency of the Fund is US Dollar. The Directors have determined that this reflects the Fund’s 
primary economic environment. 

 
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US Dollar are translated into US Dollar at the closing 
rates of exchange at each year end. Transactions during the year, including purchases and sales of securities, income 
and expenses, are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. Foreign currency gains 
and losses are included in net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and 
foreign currencies in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 
l) Share Class Hedging 
 
A currency share class may be hedged against exchange rate fluctuation risks between the denominated currency of 
the currency share class and the base currency of the Fund. Alternatively, the currency exposure of the currency(ies) 
of the Fund’s underlying assets may be hedged in order to mitigate the effect of fluctuations in the exchange rate 
between the currency(ies) of the Fund’s underlying assets and the currency of the share class. The mechanism 
employed by the ICAV is referred to as look through hedging and involves a “line by line” approach in which each 
currency is hedged individually. Traditional hedging would typically see each share class hedging the USD values 
however the method adopted by the ICAV is to only hedge the non-local currency elements. Any financial 
instruments used to implement such strategies with respect to one or more hedged share classes shall not be 
assets/liabilities of the Fund as a whole but will be attributable to the relevant hedged share class(es) and the 
gains/losses on and the costs of the relevant financial instruments will accrue solely to the relevant hedged share 
class. Where a share class is to be hedged this will be disclosed in the Supplement for the Fund. Any currency 
exposure of a hedged share class may not be combined with or offset against that of any other share class of the 
Fund. The currency exposure of the assets attributable to a hedged share class may not be allocated to other share 
classes. Where the ICAV seeks to hedge against currency fluctuations, while not intended, this could result in over-
hedged or under-hedged positions due to external factors outside the control of the ICAV. Under-hedged position 
shall not fall short of 95% of the net asset value (“NAV”) of the relevant hedged share class and over-hedged 
positions will not exceed 105% of the NAV of the relevant hedged share class and will be kept under review to 
ensure such are not carried forward from month to month. To the extent that hedging is successful for a particular 
hedged share class the performance of the hedged share class is likely to move in line with the performance of the 
base currency or the underlying assets with the result that shareholders in that hedged share class will not gain if the 
hedged share class currency falls against the base currency and/or the currency in which the assets of the Fund are 
denominated. A hedged share class will not be leveraged as a result of such currency hedging transactions. 
 
In the case of an unhedged currency share class, a currency conversion will take place on subscriptions, 
redemptions, switches and distributions at prevailing exchange rates. The value of shares expressed in the share 
class currency will be subject to exchange rate risk in relation to the base currency. 
 
m) Dividend policy 
 
The Directors of the ICAV may declare dividends to be paid in respect of the Share Classes at their discretion. 
Where declared, dividends shall be paid out of net income (i.e. income less expenses) and/or realised gains net of 
realised and unrealised losses and/or realised and unrealised gains net of realised and unrealised losses and/or net 
income and realised gains net of realised and unrealised losses or net income and realised and unrealised gains net 
of realised and unrealised losses and/or capital. Dividends shall be distributed on a twice yearly basis on the last 
Business Day of June and December. 
 
In the event that the net distributable income attributable to the relevant Share Class during the relevant period is 
insufficient to pay dividends as declared, the Directors may in their discretion determine such dividends be paid 
from capital. Investors should note that where the payment of dividends are paid out of capital, this represents and 
amounts to a return or withdrawal of part of the amount originally invested (excluding par value) or capital gains 
attributable to that, and may result in an immediate decrease in the value of the Shares of the relevant Class and 
will reduce any capital appreciation for the Shareholders of such Class. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
1.  Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

m) Dividend policy (Continued) 
 
Dividends will be paid by electronic transfer within one month of the relevant declaration date. Each holder of 
Distributing Shares has the option to take dividends in cash or to reinvest in the Fund by allotment of additional 
Shares at the relevant Net Asset Value per Share. The Fund’s default position unless specifically advised on the 
Application Form will be to reinvest dividends into the Shares of the Fund. Those Shareholders wishing to have 
their distribution automatically paid in cash should elect for such method when completing the Application Form. 
 
Distributions are recognised as a finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when declared. 
 
n) Receivables and payables  
 
All receivables and payables fall due within one year. Trade and other creditors are payable at various dates in 
accordance with the suppliers usual and customary credit terms. 

 
2. Taxation  
 

The ICAV is an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997, as 
amended (“TCA”). The ICAV and its Fund will not be liable to Irish tax in respect of its income and gains, other 
than on the occurrence of a chargeable event. 
 
Generally, a chargeable event arises on any distribution, redemption, repurchase, cancellation, or transfer of shares 
or on the ending of a “Relevant Period”. A “Relevant Period” being an eight year period beginning with the 
acquisition of the shares by the Shareholder and each subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately after 
the preceding Relevant Period. 

 
A gain on a chargeable event does not arise in respect of: 

 
(i) A shareholder who is not an Irish resident and not ordinarily resident in Ireland at the time of the chargeable 

event provided the necessary signed statutory declarations are held by the ICAV and its Fund; or 
(ii) Certain exempted Irish resident investors who have provided the ICAV and its Fund with the necessary 

signed statutory declaration; or 
(iii) Any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the 

Revenue Commissioners of Ireland; or 
(iv) An exchange of shares representing one share class of the Fund for another share class of the Fund; or 
(v) An exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the ICAV with another 

investment undertaking; or 
(vi) Certain exchanges of shares between spouses and former spouses. 

 
In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the ICAV and its Fund will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a 
chargeable event. There were no chargeable events during the year or previous year. 

 
Capital gains, dividends, and interest received by the Fund may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the 
country of origin and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Fund or its shareholders. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
3. Net Gains on Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss and Foreign Currencies 
 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

Year ended Year ended
 30 June 2024  30 June 2023 

 USD  USD 

Realised gains on investments                       66,136,313                      81,522,547 
Realised losses on investments                      (61,913,383)                    (42,502,221)
Realised gains on forward foreign currency contracts                       19,467,716                      41,481,689 
Realised losses on forward foreign currency contracts                      (20,970,922)                    (59,552,638)
Realised gains on currencies                         4,306,740                        7,212,147 
Realised losses on currencies                        (3,824,722)                      (6,565,443)
Unrealised gains on investments                       35,285,790                    171,033,502 
Unrealised losses on investments                    (165,699,110)                  (107,714,995)
Unrealised gains on currencies                         2,856,873                           545,814 
Unrealised losses on currencies                           (156,621)                         (720,911)

                (124,511,326)                   84,739,491  
 
4. Fees  

 
Management Fees 
The ICAV shall pay Waystone Management Company (IE) Limited (the “Manager”) a fee which shall not exceed 
0.035% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund subject to a minimum amount of €50,000 per annum. The management 
fee shall accrue and be calculated on each dealing day and paid quarterly in arrears out of the assets of the Fund. 
The Manager will also be entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Fund for all its own reasonable out-of-
pocket costs and expenses at normal commercial rates. 
 

Management fees for the Fund, during the year, amounted to USD 567,342 (30 June 2023: USD 541,816), of 
which USD 122,684 (30 June 2023: USD 136,520) was payable at year end. 
 

Investment Management Fees  
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the ICAV shall pay ATLAS Infrastructure Partners (UK) Ltd. (the 
“Investment Manager”) a fee as a percentage of the Net Asset Value of the Fund as set out in the table below. The 
investment management fee shall accrue and be calculated on each Dealing Day and paid monthly in arrears out of 
the assets of the Fund.  
 

The Investment Manager will also be entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Fund for all its own 
reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses at normal commercial rates. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
4. Fees (Continued) 

 
Investment Management Fees (Continued) 
 
The specified annual investment management fee percentage, of the Net Asset Value of the Fund attributable to the 
various Classes, are as follows: 

Investment Management 
Share Class       Fee (per annum) 
Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc)  0.90%  
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc)   0.90%  
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc)    0.90%  
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc)    0.90%  
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc)    0.90%  
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc)    0.90%  
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc)  0.20%  
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc)   0.20%  
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc)   0.50% 
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc)    0.50% 
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc)   0.50% 
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc)    0.50%  
Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc)*   0.50% 
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc)   0.70% 
Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc)**  0.70% 
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc)   0.70% 
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc)   0.70% 
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc)  0.70% 
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc)   0.70% 
Series B USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc)***  0.50% 
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc)*   0.50% 
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc)****  0.50% 
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc)****  0.50% 
Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc)*****  0.70% 
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc)******  0.70% 
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc)*****  0.70% 
Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc)*******  0.90% 

 
* Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) and Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 5 December 2023. 
** Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) launched on 17 July 2023. 
*** Series B USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 October 2023. 
**** Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 7 December 2023. 
***** Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 29 November 2023. 
****** Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 December 2023. 
******* Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 13 March 2024. 
 

Investment management fees for the Fund, during the year, amounted to USD 8,250,182 (30 June 2023: USD 
7,741,254), of which USD 2,074,523 (30 June 2023: USD 2,004,209) was payable at year end. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
4. Fees (Continued) 
 

Administration Fees 
The ICAV is responsible for the continuing fees of Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services 
(Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”) in accordance with the amended Administration Agreement dated 22 
September 2017. 
 

The Administrator is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund a fee at an annual rate: 
 

• 0.07% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the first USD 150 million;  
• 0.06% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 150 million;  
• 0.05% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 200 million;  
• 0.04% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 500 million;  
• 0.03% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 1 billion; and 
• 0.02% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund for any amount in excess of USD 2 billion. 
 

The Fund is subject to a monthly minimum fee of USD 6,000 and USD 250 per share class. The administration fees 
shall accrue and be calculated on each dealing day and paid monthly in arrears out of the assets of the Fund. 
 

The Administrator is also entitled to charge an annual fee to the Fund of up to USD 10,000 for the preparation of the 
annual and semi-annual financial statements. 
 

Administration fees for the Fund during the year amounted to USD 940,582 (30 June 2023: USD 948,117), of which 
USD 68,408 (30 June 2023: USD 170,051) was payable at year end. 

 
Depositary Fees 
The ICAV is responsible for the continuing fees of Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (the 
“Depositary”) in accordance with the amended Depositary Agreement dated 15 June 2018.  

 
The Depositary is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund a fee at an annual rate: 
 

• 0.02% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the first USD 150 million;  
• 0.0175% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 150 million;  
• 0.015% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 200 million;  
• 0.01% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund on the next USD 500 million; and 
• 0.0075% of the Net Asset Value of the Fund for any amount in excess of USD 1 billion.  

 
Each of the foregoing is subject to a monthly minimum fee of USD 2,500. The depositary fees shall accrue and be 
calculated on each Dealing Day and paid monthly in arrears out of the assets of the Fund. 
 
In addition, the Fund shall pay or reimburse the Depositary in respect of all reasonable and properly vouched out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by it, including (without limitation) all charges for postage, telephone and faxing incurred 
by the Depositary in the performance of duties under the Depositary Agreement. 
 
The Depositary shall also be entitled to be repaid the fees, transaction charges and expenses of any sub-custodian 
appointed by it which shall be at normal commercial rates and subject to minimum annual custody fee of USD 
30,000. 
 
Depositary fees for the Fund, during the year, amounted to USD 212,942 (30 June 2023: USD 237,021), of which 
USD 15,526 (30 June 2023: USD 43,249) was payable at year end.  
 
Custody fees for the Fund, during the year, amounted to USD 367,057 (30 June 2023: USD 374,544), of which USD 
31,063 (30 June 2023: USD 62,839) was payable at year end.  
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
4. Fees (Continued) 

 
Directors’ Fees 
The Directors will be entitled to remuneration for their services as Directors provided however that the aggregate 
emoluments of each Director in respect of any twelve month accounting period shall not exceed €25,000 (plus VAT 
if applicable) and the aggregate emoluments of all Directors in respect of any twelve month accounting period shall 
not exceed €50,000 (plus VAT if applicable). In addition, the Directors will also be entitled to be reimbursed for 
their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in discharging their duties as Directors. 
 
The Directors who are connected with the Investment Manager have waived their right to receive a Director’s fee. 

 
Directors’ fees for the Fund, during the year, amounted to USD 32,763 (30 June 2023: USD 30,673), of which USD 
Nil (30 June 2023: USD Nil) was payable at year end.  
 
Auditor’s Remuneration 
The remuneration for all work carried out by the statutory audit firm in respect of the year is as follows: 
 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

USD USD
For year ended For year ended
 30 June 2024  30 June 2023 

Statutory audit (exclusive of VAT and out-of-pocket expenses)                              33,287                              40,900 
Total                            33,287                            40,900 

 
Investment Management Fee Rebate 
The operating costs applicable to the shares classes will be capped at:  
 

• 0.30% of the NAV of the share class for the Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc), Series A US 
Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc), Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc), Series A EUR Hedged Share 
Class (Inc), Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) and Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc); 

• 0.05% of the NAV of the share class for the Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) and 
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc); and 

• 0.10% of the NAV of the share class for the Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc), Series B EUR 
Hedged Share Class (Inc), Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc), Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class 
(Inc), Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc), Series B USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc), Series 
B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc), Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc), Series B GBP Hedged 
Share Class (Acc), Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc), Series C EUR Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc), Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc), Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc), Series 
C USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc), Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc), Series C GBP Unhedged 
Share Class (Acc), Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc), Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) and 
Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc). 

 
These operating costs will include the fees and expenses of the Manager, Depositary, Administrator, fees and 
expenses of any other service provider, fees and expenses of any sub-custodian and any facilities agent (which will 
be at normal commercial rates), fees and expenses of the Directors, any fees in respect of circulating details of the 
NAV, company secretarial fees, any costs incurred in respect of meetings of shareholders, costs incurred in respect 
of the distribution of income to shareholders, the fees and expenses of any Paying Agent or representative appointed 
in compliance with the requirements of another jurisdiction (and at normal commercial rates), all sums payable in 
respect of Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover, the fees and expenses of the auditors, tax and legal 
advisers, the costs of printing and distributing the Prospectus, reports, accounts and any explanatory memoranda, 
any necessary translation fees, the costs of publishing prices and any costs incurred as a result of periodic updates of 
the Prospectus, or of a change in law or the introduction of any new law (including any costs incurred as a result of 
compliance with any applicable code, whether or not having the force of law). Fee rebates are paid by the 
Investment Manager. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
4. Fees (Continued) 

 
Investment Management Fee Rebate (Continued) 
The total Investment management fee rebate for the year was USD 919,790 (30 June 2023: USD 931,920) with USD 
258,302 (30 June 2023: USD 339,629) receivable at year end. 
 
Transaction Costs 
The Fund incurred transaction costs of USD 1,770,175 (30 June 2023: USD 2,719,880) and is included in the net 
(losses)/gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss under the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

 
5. Other Expenses 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

 Year ended  Year ended 
 30 June 2024  30 June 2023 

USD USD
Directors and officers insurance fees                          (16,659)                          (19,995)
Legal fees                          (50,357)                          (35,131)
Northern Trust German tax fees                            (4,987)                            (5,001)
Key investor related documents                          (33,236)                          (45,751)
Central Bank fees                            (9,385)                          (10,137)
Clearstream fees                          (18,422)                          (19,515)
Northern Trust Transaction fees                        (101,073)                          (78,222)
Other operating expenses                          (79,653)                          (48,463)
Other professional fees                          (85,596)                          (33,502)
PFIC Reporting                               (575)                               (577)
Professional fees, MLRO, BOR, VAT services and payroll fees                          (30,124)                          (23,556)
Total                      (430,067)                      (319,850)

 
6. Other Payables and Accrued Expenses 

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

ATLAS Global 
Infrastructure Fund

USD USD
As at As at

 30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
Legal fees payable                            (8,497)                          (27,896)
Miscellaneous fees                          (18,866)                          (41,662)
Key investor related documents                          (49,080)                          (32,245)
Other payables and accrued expenses                          (22,160)                          (13,522)
Other professional fees                          (38,725)                          (25,976)
Professional fees - Clifton Fund corporate secretarial, MLRO, BOR, 
VAT services and payroll fees payable                            (6,968)                            (6,119)
Total                      (144,296)                      (147,420)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 

 
7. Other Receivables 

 
 ATLAS Global 

Infrastructure Fund 
 ATLAS Global 

Infrastructure Fund 
 USD  USD 
 As at  As at 

 30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
 Prepaid directors and officers insurance fees                             3,976                             5,097 
 Other prepaid fees                                   -                             34,252 
 Spot contract receivable                             8,343                             8,879 
 Bank interest receivable                         180,777                         139,201 
 Total                       193,096                       187,429 

 
 

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

As at 30 June 2024, the Fund held cash of USD 26,911,840 (30 June 2023: USD 44,980,163) with The Northern 
Trust Company (“TNTC”). TNTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Trust Corporation. As at 30 June 2024, 
Northern Trust Corporation had a long-term rating from Standard & Poor’s of A+ (30 June 2023: A+). There were 
no bank overdrafts as at 30 June 2024 or 30 June 2023. 

 
9. Financial Risk Management 

 
Strategy in using Financial Instruments 

 
The ICAV consists of one sub-fund. The overall objective of the Fund is to provide income and capital appreciation 
over the long-term.  

 
The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including market price risk, interest rate 
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The ICAV’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Fund’s 
financial performance. The Fund may use derivative financial instruments to moderate certain risk exposures.  
 
The Investment Manager assesses the risk profile of the Fund on the basis of the investment policy, strategy and the 
use made of financial derivative instruments. The Fund employs the commitment approach to measure its global 
exposure. The global exposure of the Fund will not exceed its total NAV at any time.  
 
Market Risk  

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices.  
 
The Investment Manager moderates market risk through careful selection of securities and other financial 
instruments within specified limits. The Fund has exposure to some of the above risks to generate investment returns 
on its portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s assets. The Fund’s 
overall market position is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund’s Investment Manager and is reviewed on a 
regular basis by the Manager. 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the Fund’s market risk is affected by three components: 
 
(i) changes in actual equity prices (“market price risk”);  
(ii) interest rate movements (“interest rate risk”); and  
(iii) foreign currency movements (“foreign currency risk”). 
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9. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

Market Risk (Continued) 
 
(i) Market Price Risk 
 
Market price risk is the risk that the value of an instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices 
(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual 
investment, its issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 
 
The Fund’s investments are susceptible to price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the 
instruments. The Fund’s market price risk is managed primarily by ensuring the portfolio is adequately diversified 
across a sufficiently high number of equity and equity-related securities. 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the Fund holds 97.78% (30 June 2023: 97.01%) of its NAV in equity related securities. 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the Fund holds 26.91% (30 June 2023: 27.36%) of its NAV in the United States, 19.77% (30 
June 2023: 15.84%) of its NAV in the United Kingdom and 16.33% of its NAV in Italy (30 June 2023: 20.09%). 
 
The Fund’s underlying investments which consist of equities are subject to market price risk. The sectoral 
breakdown of these securities as a percentage of the Net Asset Value is disclosed within the Schedule of 
Investments. 
 
If the price of the Fund’s underlying investments to which the Fund had exposure at 30 June 2024 had increased by 
5% with all other variables held constant, the impact would have been an increase in the net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable participating shares of USD 87,466,335 (30 June 2023: USD 98,761,041). Conversely, if the 
price of the Fund’s underlying investments to which the Fund had exposure had decreased by 5% at 30 June 2024 
this would have had an equal but opposite effect on the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares of the Fund. 
 
(ii) Interest Rate Risk  
 
Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The majority of the Fund’s assets are invested in equities which don’t pay interest. As a result, the Fund is subject to 
limited risk due to the impact of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on these investments. 

As at 30 June 2024, the Fund held 1.50% (30 June 2023: 2.21%) of its NAV in cash. 
 
(iii) Foreign Currency Risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Certain assets, liabilities and income of the Fund are denominated in 
currencies other than US Dollar. The Fund is, therefore, exposed to currency risk as the value of the assets or 
liabilities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. 
 
In accordance with ICAV’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the currency position of the Fund on a daily 
basis and the Manager reviews it on a regular basis.  
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9. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

Market Risk (Continued) 
 
(iii) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued) 
 
The tables below document the Fund’s exposure to currency risk as at 30 June 2024: 
 

As at 30 June 2024

Monetary 

Forward FX 
Contracts & 

Non Monetary Monetary

Forward FX 
Contracts & 

Non Monetary FX Rate FX Rate
Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Total Sensitivity Sensitivity

USD USD USD USD USD % USD
Australian Dollar                 -           209,391,436        (634,050)  -         208,757,386 5.00%     10,437,869 
British Sterling 
Pound                 -           373,469,961        (537,428)         (1,760,483)         371,172,050 5.00%     18,558,603 
Danish Kroner            5,525           77,530,937  -       (12,780,672)           64,755,790 5.00%       3,237,790 
Euro  -         836,559,885            (1,109)     (130,147,470)         706,411,306 5.00%     35,320,565 
New Zealand 
Dollar  -  -                   (1)  -                         (1) 5.00%                    -   

           5,525      1,496,952,219     (1,172,588)     (144,688,625)      1,351,096,531     67,554,827 

As at 30 June 2023

Monetary 

Forward FX 
Contracts & 

Non Monetary Monetary
Forward FX 

Contracts FX Rate FX Rate
Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Total Sensitivity Sensitivity

USD USD USD USD USD % USD
Australian Dollar                 -           283,299,429     (2,593,088)                        -           280,706,341 5.00%     14,035,317 
British Sterling 
Pound     2,770,460         337,590,178                   -                          -   

        340,360,638 5.00%     17,018,032 

Danish Kroner               861           93,138,660                   -         (16,944,147)           76,195,374 5.00%       3,809,769 

Euro                 -        1,003,105,548 -       203,137     (177,887,646)         825,014,765 5.00%     41,250,738 
New Zealand 
Dollar                 -                            -                     (1)                        -                           (1) 5.00%                    -   

    2,771,321      1,717,133,815     (2,796,226)     (194,831,793)      1,522,277,117     76,113,856 

 
Credit Risk 
 
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”) is the appointed Depositary of the ICAV, 
responsible for the safe-keeping of assets. NTFSIL has appointed The Northern Trust Company as its global sub-
custodian. Both NTFSIL and TNTC are wholly owned subsidiaries of Northern Trust Corporation (“NTC”). As at 
30 June 2024, NTC had a long-term credit rating from Standard & Poor’s of A+ (30 June 2023: A+). 
 
TNTC (as global sub-custodian of NTFSIL) does not appoint external sub-custodians within the U.S., the U.K., 
Ireland, Canada, Belgium, France, Germany, Netherlands and Saudi Arabia. However, in all other markets, TNTC 
appoints local external sub-custodians. 
 
NTFSIL, in the discharge of its depositary duties, verifies the ICAV’s ownership of other assets, (as defined under 
Other Assets, Art 22(5) of UCITS V Directive 2014/91/EU), by assessing whether the ICAV holds the ownership 
based on information or documents provided by the ICAV or where available, on external evidence. 
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9.  Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 Credit Risk (Continued) 
 

TNTC, in the discharge of its delegated depositary duties, holds in custody (i) all financial instruments that may be 
registered in a financial instruments account opened on the books of TNTC and (ii) all financial instruments that can 
be physically delivered to TNTC. TNTC ensures all financial instruments (held in a financial instruments account on 
the books of TNTC) are held in segregated accounts in the name of the ICAV, clearly identifiable as belonging to 
the ICAV, and distinct and separately from the proprietary assets of TNTC, NTFSIL and NTC.  
 
In addition, TNTC as banker, holds the cash of the ICAV on deposit. Such cash is held on the Statement of 
Financial Position of TNTC. In the event of insolvency of TNTC, in accordance with standard banking practice, the 
ICAV will rank as an unsecured creditor of TNTC in respect of any cash deposits. 
 
Where relevant please note the following currencies, Jordanian Dinar, Saudi Riyal, cash in the onshore China 
market (principally the currency of Chinese Yuan Renminbi, and any other currencies remitted into accounts in the 
onshore China market), are no longer held on the Balance Sheet of TNTC. For these off-book currencies, clients’ 
cash exposure is directly to the relevant local sub-custodian/financial institution in the market.  
 
Insolvency of NTFSIL and or one of its agents or affiliates may cause the Fund’s rights with respect to its assets to 
be delayed. 
 
The Responsible Party (“the Manager or its delegate(s)”) manages risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial 
position of the Depositary and such risk is further managed by the Depositary monitoring the credit quality and 
financial positions of sub-custodian appointments.  
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its obligations 
in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. The Investment Manager 
manages the Fund’s liquidity risk. The ICAV may borrow monies on behalf of the Fund and may leverage the assets 
of the Fund. Leverage may be obtained for the Fund through borrowing for general liquidity purposes. The Fund 
may be leveraged up to 10% of its NAV calculated in accordance with the commitment methodology. 
 
The main liability of the Fund is the redemption of any redeemable participating shares that investors wish to sell. 
The Fund’s supplement provides for the daily creation and cancellation of Shares and it is therefore exposed to the 
liquidity risk of meeting shareholder redemptions at any time. The Fund’s financial instruments include investments 
in equities, which can normally be easily liquidated at an amount close to fair value in order to meet liquidity 
requirements. 

 
The Fund may, from time to time, invest in derivative contracts traded over the counter, which are not traded in an 
organised market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Fund may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in 
these instruments at an amount close to their fair value to meet its liquidity requirements or to respond to specific 
events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. 
 
In accordance with the ICAV’s policy, the Investment Manager and the Manager monitor the Fund’s liquidity risk 
on a periodic basis.  

  
The tables overleaf analyse the Fund’s financial liabilities on the basis of earliest possible maturity based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the tables are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within twelve months equal their carrying balances as the impact of 
discounting is not significant. 
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9.  Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund Up to More than Total
As at 30 June 2024 1 month 1 month

USD USD USD
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Derivative financial instruments                            - (132,974) (132,974)
Accrued expenses and payables                            - (14,106,876) (14,106,876)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares (1,788,841,064)                         - (1,788,841,064)

(1,788,841,064) (14,239,850) (1,803,080,914)

ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund Up to More than Total
As at 30 June 2023 1 month 1 month

USD USD USD
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Derivative financial instruments                            - (1,982,892) (1,982,892)
Accrued expenses and payables                            - (8,311,900) (8,311,900)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares (2,036,087,041)                         - (2,036,087,041)

(2,036,087,041) (10,294,792) (2,046,381,833)

 
10. Fair Value Measurement 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to settle a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the date of measurement. Investments held by the Fund are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss and are therefore affected by inputs to valuation techniques used in arriving at that fair value.  
 
Most of the Fund’s financial instruments are carried at fair value through profit or loss on the Statement of Financial 
Position. Usually, the fair value of the financial instruments can be reliably determined within a reasonable range of 
estimates. For certain other financial instruments, including amounts for cash and cash equivalents, cash collateral, 
receivables and payables, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the immediate or short-term nature of 
these financial instruments. The carrying value of all the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities at the statement of 
financial position date approximate their fair values. 
 
In order to evaluate the nature and extent of risk arising from the valuation of these investments they have been 
arranged, in accordance with IFRS, into a hierarchy giving the highest priority to unadjusted prices in active markets 
(Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
• Level 1: Quoted price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument; 
• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (for example as prices) or indirectly 

(for example derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted prices in active 
markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active or valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 
observable from market data; and 

• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments for 
which the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a 
significant effect on the investment's valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on 
quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are 
required to reflect differences between the instruments. 
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10.  Fair Value Measurement (Continued) 

 
Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include price 
information, volatility statistics, specific and broad credit data, liquidity statistics and other factors. A financial 
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement. 
 
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant judgement by the Fund. The Fund considers 
observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 
verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. 
 
The categorisation of a financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the 
instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Fund’s perceived risk of that instrument. 
 
Financial instruments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are therefore classified 
within Level 1. 
 
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted 
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within 
Level 2. These include certain financial derivative instruments where the price is calculated internally using 
observable data. Financial instruments classified as Level 2 traded in markets may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity, 
such adjustments are based on available market information. All other unquoted instruments are classified into Level 
3 by default. 
 
The following tables present the financial instruments carried on the Statement of Financial Position at fair value by 
level within the valuation hierarchy under IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023: 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund
As at 30 June 2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets USD USD USD USD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Equities      1,749,326,703                   -                 -        1,749,326,703 
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts                          -        1,012,051               -               1,012,051 

     1,749,326,703      1,012,051               -        1,750,338,754 
Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts                          -          (132,974)               -                 (132,974)

                         -          (132,974)               -                 (132,974)
Total      1,749,326,703         879,077               -        1,750,205,780 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
10. Fair Value Measurement (Continued) 

 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund
As at 30 June 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets USD USD USD USD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Equities      1,975,220,825                   -                 -        1,975,220,825 
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts                          -             49,964               -                    49,964 

     1,975,220,825           49,964               -        1,975,270,789 
Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts                          -       (1,982,892)               -              (1,982,892)

                         -       (1,982,892)               -              (1,982,892)
Total      1,975,220,825     (1,932,928)               -        1,973,287,897 

 
There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 assets or liabilities held during the year or at year 
end (30 June 2023: Nil). 
 
No investments have been classified within Level 3 at any time during the year (30 June 2023: Nil). 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities not measured at Fair Value 
 
The financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term financial assets 
and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are categorised 
as Level 1 and all other financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
categorised as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

 
11. Exchange Rates 

 
The exchange rates used to translate foreign currency balances and foreign currency-denominated assets and 
liabilities to US Dollar at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 were as follows: 
 

As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Australian Dollar                         1.4973              1.5023 
British Sterling Pound                         0.7911              0.7866 
Danish Krone                         6.9582              6.8249 
Euro                         0.9331              0.9166 
New Zealand Dollar                         1.6411              1.6323 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
12.  Share Capital 

 
During the year ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, the number of shares issued, redeemed and outstanding was 
as follows: 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund
Year ended 30 June 2024 Shares in issue Shares Shares Shares in issue 

at start of Issued Redeemed at end of 
year year

Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 101,794 3,916 (6) 105,704 
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) 71,070 7,193 (4,623) 73,640 
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 143,668 19,243 (10,209) 152,702 
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) 25,049 25,467 (3,900) 46,616 
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 113,791 5,278 (1,008) 118,061 
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) 25,543 1,883 (1,215) 26,211 
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 3,783,100 3,288 (716,308) 3,070,080 
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) 2,724,121 218 (589,299) 2,135,040 
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) 307,803 209,417 (249,460) 267,760 
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 2,452,455 542,339 (784,506) 2,210,288 
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 943,198 87,931 (146,961) 884,168 
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 3,727,310 585,905 (625,689) 3,687,526 
Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc)*                           - 5,407                       - 5,407 
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 89,914 7,539 (70,574) 26,879 
Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc)**                           - 100,000 (100,000)                            - 
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 1,674 30,438 (9,366) 22,746 
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) 141,183 62,069 (18,162) 185,090 
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) 10,442                     -                       - 10,442 
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) 300,465 400,065 (96,521) 604,009 
Series B USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc)***                           - 5,087                       - 5,087 
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc)*                           - 14,985 (3,851) 11,134 
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc)****                           - 50,866 (59) 50,807 
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc)****                           - 1,202 (520) 682 
Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc)*****                           - 243,504 (14,082) 229,422 
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc)******                           - 5 (4) 1 
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc)*****                           - 5,173 (4) 5,169 
Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc)*******                           - 9,644                       - 9,644 

14,962,580 2,428,062 (3,446,327) 13,944,315 

 
* Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) and Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 5 December 2023. 
** Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) launched on 17 July 2023. 
*** Series B USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 October 2023. 
**** Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 7 December 2023. 
***** Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 29 November 2023. 
****** Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 December 2023. 
******* Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 13 March 2024. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
12.  Share Capital (Continued) 
 

During the year ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, the number of shares issued, redeemed and outstanding was 
as follows: 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund
Year ended 30 June 2023 Shares in issue Shares Shares Shares in issue 

at start of Issued Redeemed at end of 
year year

Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 98,712 5,504 (2,422) 101,794 
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) 61,252 11,318 (1,500) 71,070 
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 53,006 96,708 (6,046) 143,668 
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) 22,410 5,889 (3,250) 25,049 
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 109,592 4,271 (72) 113,791 
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) 21,110 5,473 (1,040) 25,543 
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 4,424,671 318,104 (959,675) 3,783,100 
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) 1,596,089 1,485,471 (357,439) 2,724,121 
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) 358,294 77,583 (128,074) 307,803 
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 2,058,968 1,085,984 (692,497) 2,452,455 
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 1,085,506 240,550 (382,858) 943,198 
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 3,535,857 630,208 (438,755) 3,727,310 
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 53,216 40,773 (4,075) 89,914 
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) 10 1,721 (57) 1,674 
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) 237,412 86,451 (182,680) 141,183 
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) 89,156                     - (78,714) 10,442 
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) 496,284 7,200 (203,019) 300,465 

14,301,545 4,103,208 (3,442,173) 14,962,580 

 
13. Net Asset Value per Share  

 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 1 2 3

As at 30 June 2024
Series A US Dollar 

Unhedged Share
Series A US Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Series A EUR 

Unhedged Share 
 Class (Inc) Class (Inc) Class (Inc)

Net asset value US$13,529,867 US$11,010,379 €21,440,724

Shares outstanding                      105,704                        73,640                      152,702 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share $128.00 $149.52 €140.41

4 5 6

As at 30 June 2024
Series A EUR 
Hedged Share 

Series A GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Series A GBP 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc) Class (Inc) Class (Inc)

Net asset value € 6,045,093 £15,827,292 £3,609,620

Shares outstanding                        46,616                      118,061                        26,211 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 129.68 £134.06 £137.71  
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 

 
13.  Net Asset Value per Share (Continued) 

 

As at 30 June 2024

Series A 
Australian Dollar 

Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series A 
Australian Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series B GBP 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value AUD 479,468,219 AUD 306,152,310 £27,804,989

Shares outstanding                   3,070,080                   2,135,040                      267,760 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share AUD 156.17 AUD 143.39 £103.84

10 11 12

As at 30 June 2024

Series B EUR 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series B USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series B GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value € 274,974,494 US$107,434,505 £493,091,235

Shares outstanding                   2,210,288                      884,168                   3,687,526 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 124.41 $121.51 £133.72

14 15 19

As at 30 June 2024

Series B EUR 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)*

Series C USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series C GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value € 540,752 US$2,572,852 £2,148,521

Shares outstanding                          5,407                        26,879                        22,746 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 100.02 $95.72 £94.46

20 22 23

As at 30 June 2024

Series C GBP 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series C 
Australian Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series C USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Acc)

Net asset value £19,675,555 AUD 1,150,968 US$58,320,581

Shares outstanding                      185,090                        10,442                      604,009 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share £106.30 AUD 110.23 $96.56

24 26 28

As at 30 June 2024

Series B USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Acc)**

Series B EUR 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Acc)*

Series B GBP 
Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc)***

Net asset value $555,381 € 1,125,547 £5,018,999

Shares outstanding                          5,087                        11,134                        50,807 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share $109.17 € 101.09 £98.79  
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 

 
13.  Net Asset Value per Share (Continued) 

As at 30 June 2024

Series B GBP 
Hedged Share 

Class (Acc)***

Series C EUR 
Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc)****

Series C GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Acc)*****

Net asset value £67,741 € 23,670,385 £98

Shares outstanding                             682                      229,422                                 1 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share £99.37 € 103.17 £98.28

€34.00 £43.00

As at 30 June 2024

Series C GBP 
Hedged Share 

Class (Acc)****

Series R USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Acc)******

Net asset value £527,648 US$935,451

Shares outstanding                          5,169                          9,644 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share £102.08 $97.00  
 
* Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) and Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 5 December 2023. 
** Series B USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 October 2023. 
*** Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 7 December 2023. 
**** Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 29 November 2023. 
***** Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 December 2023. 
****** Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 13 March 2024. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
13. Net Asset Value per Share (Continued) 
 

ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund

As at 30 June 2023

Series A US Dollar 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A US Dollar 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A EUR 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value US$ 14,077,694 US$ 11,236,716 € 21,410,723

Shares outstanding 101,794 71,070 143,668
Net asset value per redeemable participating share US$ 138.30 US$ 158.11 € 149.03

As at 30 June 2023

Series A EUR 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A GBP 
Hedged Share Class 

(Inc)

Net asset value € 3,506,930 £16,388,228 £3,739,332

Shares outstanding 25,049 113,791 25,543
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 140.00 £144.02 £146.39

As at 30 June 2023

Series A 
Australian Dollar 

Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series A 
Australian Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series B GBP 
Hedged Share Class 

(Inc)

Net asset value AUD 635,454,012 AUD 418,405,328 £33,790,213

Shares outstanding 3,783,100 2,724,121 307,803
Net asset value per redeemable participating share AUD 167.97 AUD 153.59 £109.78

As at 30 June 2023

Series B EUR 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series B US Dollar 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series B GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value € 322,426,597 US$ 123,290,590 £533,116,246

Shares outstanding 2,452,455 943,198 3,727,310
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 131.47 US$ 130.72 £143.03
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13. Net Asset Value per Share (Continued) 

 

As at 30 June 2023

Series C USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series C GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series C GBP 
Hedged Share Class 

(Inc)

Net asset value US$ 9,277,150 £169,443 £15,914,959

Shares outstanding                        89,914                          1,674                         141,183 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share US$ 103.18 £101.22 £112.73

As at 30 June 2023

Series C 
Australian Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series C USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Acc)

Net asset value AUD 1,237,268 US$ 30,152,511

Shares outstanding                        10,442                         300,465 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share AUD 118.49 US$ 100.35

 
 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund

As at 30 June 2022

Series A US Dollar 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A US Dollar 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A EUR 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value US$ 12,942,233 US$ 9,297,550 € 7,815,301

Shares outstanding 98,712 61,252 53,006
Net asset value per redeemable participating share US$ 131.11 US$ 151.79 € 147.44

As at 30 June 2022

Series A EUR 
Hedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series A GBP 
Hedged Share Class 

(Inc)

Net asset value € 3,111,881 £15,664,566 £3,007,851

Shares outstanding 22,410 109,592 21,110
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 138.86 £142.93 £142.48
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13. Net Asset Value per Share (Continued) 

 

As at 30 June 2022

Series A 
Australian Dollar 

Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series A 
Australian Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series B GBP 
Hedged Share Class 

(Inc)

Net asset value AUD 676,739,661 AUD 239,739,407 £38,068,384

Shares outstanding 4,424,671 1,596,089 358,294
Net asset value per redeemable participating share AUD 152.95 AUD 150.20 £106.25

As at 30 June 2022

Series B EUR 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series B US Dollar 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Series B GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)

Net asset value € 266,657,580 US$ 133,940,642 £499,758,124

Shares outstanding 2,058,968 1,085,506 3,535,857
Net asset value per redeemable participating share € 129.51 US$ 123.39 £141.34

As at 30 June 2022

Series C USD 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)**

Series C GBP 
Unhedged Share 

Class (Inc)*

Series C GBP 
Hedged Share Class 

(Inc)***

Net asset value US$ 5,150,487 £1,132 £25,863,587

Shares outstanding                        53,216                               10                         237,412 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share US$ 96.79 £113.24 £108.94

As at 30 June 2022

Series C 
Australian Dollar 

Hedged Share 
Class (Inc)

Series C USD 
Unhedged Share 
Class (Acc)****

Net asset value AUD 10,398,429 US$ 45,709,827

Shares outstanding                        89,156                         496,284 
Net asset value per redeemable participating share AUD 116.63 US$ 92.10

 
* From 30 November 2021 to 25 May 2022 shares were initially offered in respect of Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc). 
** From 30 November 2021 to 25 May 2022 shares were initially offered in respect of Series C USD Unhedged Share Class 
(Inc). 
*** From 30 November 2021 to 25 May 2022 shares were initially offered in respect of Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc). 
**** From 30 November 2021 to 25 May 2022 shares were initially offered in respect of Series C USD Unhedged Share Class 
(Acc). 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
14. Related Party Transactions 
 

IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ requires the disclosure of information relating to material transactions with 
parties who are deemed to be related to the Fund.  
 
The Investment Manager of the ICAV is ATLAS Infrastructure Partners (UK) Limited. Under the terms of the 
investment management agreement, the Investment Manager is responsible, subject to the overall supervision and 
control of the Directors, for the day-to-day investment management of the portfolio of the Fund. 
 
The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) and Secretary of the ICAV are employees of Clifton Fund 
Consulting Limited which is part of the same economic group as the Manager. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2024, professional fees in relation to MLRO fees, Payroll fees, Beneficial Ownership 
Register (BOR) services and VAT service fees charged by Clifton Fund Consulting Limited amounted to USD 
14,826 (30 June 2023: USD 13,533) of which USD 3,673 (30 June 2023: USD 3,739) was payable at the year end. 
The Secretary fees amounted to USD 15,298 (30 June 2023: USD 10,023) of which USD 3,296 (30 June 2023: USD 
2,380) was payable at the year end. 
 
GIM ATLAS LLC, Global Infrastructure Management LLP and GIP Founding partners (“GIP”) are related parties 
to the Investment Manager and are currently invested in the Fund. As at 30 June 2024, three partners of GIP had a 
combined 1.77% holding in the Fund (30 June 2023: 1.59%). 
 
Charles Kirwan-Taylor is the Executive Chairman of ATLAS, an investor in the Fund and a Director of the 
Investment Manager. Carl Chambers is a Director of the ICAV and is Compliance Officer of the Investment 
Manager. Clinton Joyner is a Director of the ICAV. He is also a Partner, Chief Operating Officer and a Director of 
the Investment Manager. 
 
Stephen Finn, a Director of the ICAV, is an employee of the Manager.  
 
Charles Kirwan-Taylor had 3,647.47 shares in the Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) (30 June 2023: 
3,490.15) and 992.82 shares in the Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) of the Fund as at 30 June 2024 (30 June 
2023: 950.52). 
 
None of the remaining Directors of the ICAV hold or held shares in the Fund during the year ended 30 June 2024 
(2023: same). Rod Chisholm is a Director of the Investment Manager and held 3,830.11 shares in Series A GBP 
Unhedged Share Class (Inc) as at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: 3,664.91). 
 
The fees charged by the Manager, Investment Manager and Directors are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial 
statements. 
 
As at 30 June 2024, the ATLAS Infrastructure Australian Feeder Fund has a holding worth 30% of the ATLAS 
Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV (30 June 2023: 36%). 
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
15. Distributions Paid to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares 
 

The following distributions were declared and paid during the year ended 30 June 2024: 

Share Class Currency
Amount 

per share Ex-Date Pay Date Amount
Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 1.45550 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 US$152,152
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) USD 1.67065 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 US$123,215
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 1.54908 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 €234,581
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 1.45395 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 €67,428
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 1.51164 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 £175,555
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 1.52900 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 £38,670
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 1.72831 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 AUD6,073,829
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 1.56770 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 AUD3,855,971
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 1.14859 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 £401,954
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 1.36821 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 €3,307,789
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 1.37737 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 US$1,317,509
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 1.50305 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 £5,830,279
Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 0.23045 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 €961
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc) USD 1.08659 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 US$103,056
Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 1.00815 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 €100,815
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 1.06326 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 £29,057
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 1.17851 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 £199,455
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 1.20842 2 January 2024 9 January 2024 AUD12,618

Share Class Currency
Amount 

per share Ex-Date Pay Date Amount
Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 3.50904 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 US$357,199
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) USD 4.02751 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 US$286,237
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 3.78137 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 €543,263
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 3.55925 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 €89,156
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 3.65428 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 £415,825
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 3.66339 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 £93,574
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 4.25642 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 AUD16,102,497
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 3.96350 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 AUD10,797,078
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 2.74534 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 £845,026
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 3.33308 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 €8,174,251
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 3.31411 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 US$3,126,574
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 3.62624 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 £13,516,140
Series C US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 2.61685 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 US$235,292
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 2.56758 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 £4,297
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 2.81714 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 £397,733
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 3.06304 3 July 2023 10 July 2023 AUD31,983
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
15. Distributions Paid to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (Continued) 

 
The following distributions were declared and paid during the year ended 30 June 2023: 

Share Class Currency
Amount 

per share Ex-Date Pay Date Amount
Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD     1.60954 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 US$165,703
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) USD     1.89639 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 US$121,065
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR     1.77305 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 €107,447
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR     1.65450 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 €36,897
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.77154 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 £198,469
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.74401 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 £42,774
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share AUD     1.90850 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 AUD7,734,155
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share AUD     1.85246 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 AUD5,474,289
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.30354 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 £370,848
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR     1.55947 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 €2,953,326
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD     1.51675 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 US$1,487,707
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.75408 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 £6,352,685
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc) USD     1.19847 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 US$60,889
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     0.76377 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 £1,161
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.33438 3 January 2023 10 January 2023 £392,721
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share AUD     1.43942 3 January 2023 10 January 2023  AUD87,001 

Share Class Currency
Amount 

per share Ex-Date Pay Date Amount
Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD     2.28489 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 US$225,546
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) USD     2.58582 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 US$158,387
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR     2.56948 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 €136,198
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR     2.43662 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 €54,605
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     2.49094 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 £272,988
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     2.54031 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 £53,627
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share AUD     2.66219 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 AUD11,781,829
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share AUD     2.67002 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 AUD4,281,472
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.89241 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 £678,040
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR     2.25550 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 €4,670,920
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD     2.14892 1 July 2022 8 July 2022  US$2,332,666 
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     2.46162 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 £8,705,232
Series C US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD     0.88732 1 July 2022 8 July 2022  US$47,219 
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.85500 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 £19
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP     1.94220 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 £461,132
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share AUD     2.07477 1 July 2022 8 July 2022 AUD184,979

 

 
16. Soft commissions and Directed Brokerage Services 

 
There were no soft commissions or directed brokerage service arrangements in place during the year ended 30 June 
2024 or year ended 30 June 2023. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
17. Efficient Portfolio Management 
 

The Investment Manager may utilise derivatives and other techniques and instruments (including, but not limited to 
forward contracts and warrants) whether the intention is of providing protection against risks or of gaining exposure 
to certain markets, sectors or securities, or otherwise of increasing the return on the assets of the Fund. 
 
Such derivatives and other techniques and instruments will only be used for efficient portfolio management 
purposes in accordance with the conditions and limits laid down by the Central Bank. The Fund used forward 
contracts to hedge currency exposures at Share class level during the years ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023. 
Losses from forward contracts may arise from unfavorable changes in currency values. 
 
The Investment Manager may also, when facilities become available in the relevant markets, lend the Portfolio 
securities and/or purchase securities subject to repurchase agreements. No securities lending occurred and no 
securities were purchased subject to repurchase agreements during the year ended 30 June 2024 or 30 June 2023. 

 
18. Net Asset Value reconciliation 

 
ATLAS Global 

Infrastructure Fund
ATLAS Global 

Infrastructure Fund
USD USD
As at As at

 30 June 2024  30 June 2023 

Dealing Net Asset Value as at the beginning of the year 1,782,387,780                2,036,129,095                
Less: adjustment for late deals

Subscriptions 6,808,442                       153,737                          
Redemptions (355,158)                         (195,791)                         

Net Asset Value reported to Shareholders as at the end
of the year 1,788,841,064             2,036,087,041             

 
 
19. Significant Events During the Year 

 
On 29 September 2023, KBA Consulting Management Limited, the Manager of the ICAV, completed its merger 
with Waystone Management Company (IE) Limited (“WMC”). WMC is the surviving entity post-merger and as 
such, the ICAV’s Manager is WMC from this date. 
 
Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) and Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 5 December 
2023. Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) launched on 17 July 2023. Series B USD Unhedged Share Class 
(Acc) launched on 18 October 2023. Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series B GBP Hedged Share 
Class (Acc) launched on 7 December 2023. Series C EUR Unhedged Share Class (Acc) and Series C GBP Hedged 
Share Class (Acc) launched on 29 November 2023. Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 18 
December 2023 and Series R USD Unhedged Share Class (Acc) launched on 13 March 2024. 
 

There were no other significant events during the year ended 30 June 2024. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
20. Subsequent Events After the Year End 
 

The following distributions were declared following the year end and are therefore not included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2024. 
 

Share Class Currency
Amount 

per share Ex-Date Pay Date Amount
Series A US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 3.47239 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 US$367,045
Series A US Dollar Hedged Share Class (Inc) USD 4.04107 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 US$297,585
Series A EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 3.80909 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 €581,656
Series A EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 3.52987 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 €164,547
Series A GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 3.63686 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 £429,371
Series A GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 3.72149 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 £97,546
Series A Australian Dollar Unhedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 4.2314 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 AUD12,990,735
Series A Australian Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 3.82862 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 AUD8,174,257
Series B GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 2.80418 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 £750,847
Series B EUR Unhedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 3.37257 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 €7,454,352
Series B US Dollar Unhedged Share Class USD 3.29403 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 US$2,912,477
Series B GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 3.62502 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 £13,367,357
Series B EUR Hedged Share Class (Inc) EUR 2.72048 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 €14,709
Series C USD Unhedged Share Class (Inc) USD 2.59570 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 US$69,771
Series C GBP Unhedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 2.56149 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 £58,264
Series C GBP Hedged Share Class (Inc) GBP 2.87182 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 £531,546
Series C Australian Dollar Hedged Share 
Class (Inc) AUD 2.94514 1 July 2024 8 July 2024 AUD30,752
 
There have been no other events after the year end date which, in the opinion of the Directors of the ICAV, may 
have an impact on the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024. 

 
21. Financial Commitments and Contingents 
 

The Fund has not entered into any financial commitments and no provisions have been made for contingent 
liabilities as at the year ended 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: same). 

 
22. Approval of Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 October 2024. 
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

Fair Value %  of
Holdings Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss USD Net Assets

Equities: 97.78%  (2023: 97.01% )

Australia: 0.00%  (2023: 0.23% )

Commercial Services: 0.00%  (2023: 0.23% )

Belgium: 2.46%  (2023: 0.00% )

Electric: 2.46%  (2023: 0.00% )
469,767      Elia Group SA Com NPV 44,028,696         2.46             

Total Belgium 44,028,696      2.46            

Denmark: 4.33%  (2023: 4.57% )

Electric: 4.33%  (2023: 4.57% )
1,455,682   Orsted AS DKK1.00 77,530,935         4.33             

Total Denmark 77,530,935      4.33            

France: 7.05%  (2023: 12.51% )

Engineering&Construction: 2.78%  (2023: 7.29% )
540,294      Eiffage SA Com EUR4.00 49,660,195         2.78             

Telecommunications: 0.00%  (2023: 0.75% )

Transportation: 4.27%  (2023: 4.47% )
4,608,089   Getlink SE Com EUR0.40 76,303,216         4.27             

Total France 125,963,411    7.05            

Germany: 8.72%  (2023: 9.28% )

Electric: 4.25%  (2023: 4.64% )
2,220,152   RWE AG Class A NPV 76,023,362         4.25             

Engineering&Construction: 4.47%  (2023: 4.64% )
1,551,269   Fraport AG Frankfurt Airport Services Worldwide Com NPV 80,135,998         4.47             

Total Germany 156,159,360    8.72            
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

Fair Value %  of
Holdings Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss USD Net Assets

Equities: 97.78%  (2023: 97.01% ) (Continued)

Italy: 16.33%  (2023: 20.09% )

Electric: 11.83%  (2023: 15.97% )
11,408,916 Enel SpA Com EUR1.00 79,405,424         4.44             
17,081,415 Terna Rete Elettrica Nazionale SpA Com EUR0.22 132,139,975       7.39             

Gas: 4.50%  (2023: 4.12% )
18,186,656 Snam SpA Com NPV 80,519,589         4.50             

Total Italy 292,064,988    16.33         

Luxembourg: 6.35%  (2023: 7.13% )

Telecommunications: 6.35%  (2023: 7.13% )
22,288,112 SES SA Receipt NPV 113,607,925       6.35             

Total Luxembourg 113,607,925    6.35            

Spain: 5.86%  (2023: 0.00% )

Transporation: 3.53%  (2023: 0.00% )
313,361      Aena SME SA EUR10.00 63,138,796         3.53             

Engineering&Construction: 2.33%  (2023: 0.00% )
1,277,954   Cellnex Telecom SA Com EUR0.25 41,596,186         2.33             

Total Spain 104,734,982    5.86            

United Kingdom: 19.77%  (2023: 15.84% )

Electric: 7.78%  (2023: 4.49% )
12,479,657 National Grid Com GBP0.12 139,234,876       7.78             

Water: 11.99%  (2023: 11.35% )
2,724,149   Severn Trent Com GBP0.98 81,957,608         4.58             

10,671,230 United Utilities Group Com GBP0.05 132,547,854       7.41             
Total United Kingdom 353,740,338    19.77         
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 

Fair Value %  of
Holdings Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss USD Net Assets

Equities: 97.78%  (2023: 97.01% ) (Continued)

United States: 26.91%  (2023: 27.36% )

Electric: 26.91%  (2023: 22.65% )
2,336,726   Avangrid Inc Com USD0.01 83,023,875         4.64             

169,998      Consolidated Edison Inc Com USD0.10 15,201,221         0.85             
1,883,422   Edison International Com NPV 135,248,534       7.55             
2,282,973   Exelon Corporation NPV 79,013,696         4.42             

Electric: 26.91%  (2023: 22.65% ) (Continued)
1,128,751   Pinnacle West Capital Corporation NPV 86,214,001         4.82             
1,914,772   Portland General Electric Co Com NPV 82,794,741         4.63             

Transportation: 0.00%  (2023: 4.71% )

Total United States 481,496,068    26.91         

Total Equities (Cost: US$ 1,871,051,970) 1,749,326,703 97.78         
 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.06%  (2023: 0.00% )

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Gain Net Assets

USD

Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 51,211,688 EUR 31,697,933 0.6653 9/19/2024 172,747               0.01             
Morgan Stanley AUD 36,575,657 EUR 22,641,381 0.6653 9/19/2024 120,633               0.01             
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 21,817,186 GBP 11,465,326 0.6653 9/19/2024 97,370                 0.01             
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 29,261,409 EUR 18,113,105 0.6653 9/19/2024 97,097                 0.01             
Barclays Bank AUD 29,260,308 EUR 18,113,105 0.6653 9/19/2024 96,361                 0.01             
Morgan Stanley AUD 15,580,535 GBP 8,189,519 0.6653 9/19/2024 67,430                 0.01             
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 31,002,316 USD 20,681,955 0.6671 9/19/2024 62,790                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 12,466,681 GBP 6,551,615 0.6653 9/19/2024 55,451                 - 
Barclays Bank AUD 12,466,553 GBP 6,551,615 0.6653 9/19/2024 55,365                 - 
Morgan Stanley AUD 22,142,520 USD 14,772,825 0.6672 9/19/2024 43,517                 - 
Barclays Bank AUD 17,716,068 USD 11,818,260 0.6671 9/19/2024 36,187                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 17,714,281 USD 11,818,260 0.6672 9/19/2024 34,991                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 5,001,431 DKK 23,070,349 0.6653 9/19/2024 16,497                 - 
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.06%  (2023: 0.00% ) (Continued)

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Gain Net Assets

USD

Morgan Stanley AUD 3,571,794 DKK 16,478,821 0.6653 9/19/2024 11,344                 - 
Barclays Bank AUD 2,857,686 DKK 13,183,057 0.6653 9/19/2024 9,244                   - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 2,857,372 DKK 13,183,057 0.6653 9/19/2024 9,033                   - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank USD 1,843,054 EUR 1,710,029 1.0778 9/19/2024 3,719                   - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank USD 785,189 GBP 618,527 1.2694 9/19/2024 2,879                   - 
Morgan Stanley USD 1,316,422 EUR 1,221,449 1.0778 9/19/2024 2,611                   - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank USD 1,053,173 EUR 977,159 1.0778 9/19/2024 2,124                   - 
Morgan Stanley USD 560,892 GBP 441,805 1.2695 9/19/2024 2,099                   - 
Barclays Bank USD 1,053,068 EUR 977,159 1.0777 9/19/2024 2,020                   - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank USD 448,700 GBP 353,444 1.2695 9/19/2024 1,665                   - 
Barclays Bank USD 448,679 GBP 353,444 1.2694 9/19/2024 1,645                   - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank EUR 427,614 GBP 363,036 1.0743 9/19/2024 783                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 191,777 EUR 118,702 0.6653 9/19/2024 647                      - 
Morgan Stanley EUR 305,450 GBP 259,311 1.0743 9/19/2024 571                      - 
Morgan Stanley AUD 136,968 EUR 84,787 0.6653 9/19/2024 452                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank EUR 244,351 GBP 207,449 1.0743 9/19/2024 447                      - 
Barclays Bank EUR 244,333 GBP 207,449 1.0743 9/19/2024 429                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 81,701 GBP 42,935 0.6653 9/19/2024 365                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 109,578 EUR 67,830 0.6653 9/19/2024 364                      - 
Barclays Bank AUD 109,574 EUR 67,830 0.6653 9/19/2024 361                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank USD 179,993 DKK 1,244,591 0.1446 9/19/2024 340                      - 
Morgan Stanley AUD 58,346 GBP 30,668 0.6653 9/19/2024 253                      - 
Morgan Stanley USD 128,560 DKK 888,994 0.1446 9/19/2024 236                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 116,097 USD 77,449 0.6671 9/19/2024 235                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 46,685 GBP 24,534 0.6653 9/19/2024 208                      - 
Barclays Bank AUD 46,685 GBP 24,534 0.6653 9/19/2024 207                      - 
Barclays Bank USD 102,845 DKK 711,195 0.1446 9/19/2024 187                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank USD 102,842 DKK 711,195 0.1446 9/19/2024 183                      - 
Morgan Stanley AUD 82,919 USD 55,321 0.6672 9/19/2024 163                      - 
Barclays Bank AUD 66,343 USD 44,257 0.6671 9/19/2024 136                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 66,336 USD 44,257 0.6672 9/19/2024 131                      - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 492,996 GBP 56,201 0.1443 9/19/2024 79                        - 
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.06%  (2023: 0.00% ) (Continued)

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Gain Net Assets

USD

Australia and New 
Zealand Bank EUR 36,721 GBP 31,176 1.0743 19/09/2024 67                        - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank AUD 18,729 DKK 86,394 0.6653 19/09/2024 62                        - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 341,886 GBP 38,975 0.1443 19/09/2024 55                        - 
Morgan Stanley EUR 26,230 GBP 22,268 1.0743 19/09/2024 49                        - 
Morgan Stanley AUD 13,376 DKK 61,710 0.6653 19/09/2024 42                        - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank EUR 20,984 GBP 17,815 1.0743 19/09/2024 38                        - 
Barclays Bank EUR 20,982 GBP 17,815 1.0743 19/09/2024 37                        - 
Barclays Bank AUD 10,701 DKK 49,368 0.6653 19/09/2024 35                        - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank AUD 10,700 DKK 49,368 0.6653 19/09/2024 34                        - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 164,454 USD 23,715 0.1442 19/09/2024 24                        - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 63,500 GBP 7,239 0.1443 19/09/2024 10                        - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 9,283 GBP 1,058 0.1443 19/09/2024 1                          - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 93,525 EUR 12,550 0.1443 19/09/2024 1                          - 
Morgan Stanley DKK 763 GBP 87 0.1443 19/09/2024 - - 

Total Fair Value Gains on Forward Currency Contracts 1,012,051         0.06            

Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,012,051         0.06            

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.00%  (2023: 0.00% ) 

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Loss Net Assets

USD

Barclays Bank EUR 4,810 DKK 35,846 1.0743 19/09/2024 (1)                        - 
Morgan Stanley EUR 6,012 DKK 44,808 1.0743 19/09/2024 (1)                        - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank EUR 8,417 DKK 62,731 1.0743 19/09/2024 (1)                        - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 502 DKK 4,409 1.2679 19/09/2024 (1)                        - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank EUR 4,809 DKK 35,846 1.0743 19/09/2024 (1)                        - 
Barclays Bank GBP 502 DKK 4,409 1.2679 19/09/2024 (1)                        - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 628 DKK 5,512 1.2679 19/09/2024 (2)                        - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 879 DKK 7,716 1.2679 19/09/2024 (2)                        - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank DKK 11,398 AUD 2,467 0.1443 19/09/2024 (5)                        - 
Barclays Bank EUR 56,009 DKK 417,426 1.0743 19/09/2024 (10)                      - 
Barclays Bank GBP 5,144 EUR 6,058 1.2679 19/09/2024 (11)                      - 
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.00%  (2023: 0.00% ) (Continued)

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Loss Net Assets

USD

JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 5,143 EUR 6,058 1.2679 9/19/2024 (11)                      - 
Morgan Stanley EUR 70,012 DKK 521,782 1.0743 9/19/2024 (12)                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 4,904 DKK 43,056 1.2679 9/19/2024 (12)                      - 
Barclays Bank GBP 4,904 DKK 43,056 1.2679 9/19/2024 (12)                      - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 6,429 EUR 7,573 1.2679 9/19/2024 (14)                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank EUR 98,019 DKK 730,495 1.0743 9/19/2024 (14)                      - 
Barclays Bank GBP 3,114 USD 3,953 1.2694 9/19/2024 (14)                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank EUR 56,005 DKK 417,426 1.0743 9/19/2024 (15)                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 3,114 USD 3,953 1.2695 9/19/2024 (15)                      - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 6,130 DKK 53,820 1.2679 9/19/2024 (15)                      - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 3,892 USD 4,941 1.2695 9/19/2024 (18)                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 9,001 EUR 10,602 1.2679 9/19/2024 (19)                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 8,584 DKK 75,348 1.2679 9/19/2024 (19)                      - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 5,449 USD 6,918 1.2694 9/19/2024 (25)                      - 
Barclays Bank EUR 29,819 USD 32,135 1.0777 9/19/2024 (62)                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank EUR 29,816 USD 32,135 1.0778 9/19/2024 (65)                      - 
Morgan Stanley EUR 37,271 USD 40,169 1.0778 9/19/2024 (80)                      - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 33,552 DKK 294,559 1.2679 9/19/2024 (82)                      - 
Barclays Bank GBP 33,551 DKK 294,559 1.2679 9/19/2024 (84)                      - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 41,940 DKK 368,199 1.2679 9/19/2024 (103)                    - 
Barclays Bank GBP 50,227 EUR 59,158 1.2679 9/19/2024 (104)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 50,224 EUR 59,158 1.2679 9/19/2024 (108)                    - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank EUR 52,178 USD 56,237 1.0778 9/19/2024 (113)                    - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 58,725 DKK 515,479 1.2679 9/19/2024 (133)                    - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 62,777 EUR 73,947 1.2679 9/19/2024 (138)                    - 
Barclays Bank GBP 30,406 USD 38,599 1.2694 9/19/2024 (141)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 30,405 USD 38,599 1.2695 9/19/2024 (143)                    - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 38,004 USD 48,248 1.2695 9/19/2024 (181)                    - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 87,892 EUR 103,526 1.2679 9/19/2024 (190)                    - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 53,210 USD 67,548 1.2694 9/19/2024 (248)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 180,534 DKK 1,584,925 1.2679 9/19/2024 (441)                    - 
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

Financial liabilites at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.00%  (2023: 0.00% ) (Continued)

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Loss Net Assets

USD

Barclays Bank GBP 180,527 DKK 1,584,925 1.2679 9/19/2024 (449)                    - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 225,663 DKK 1,981,156 1.2679 9/19/2024 (556)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 256,721 DKK 2,253,776 1.2679 9/19/2024 (627)                    - 
Barclays Bank GBP 256,711 DKK 2,253,776 1.2679 9/19/2024 (639)                    - 
Barclays Bank GBP 343,620 EUR 404,715 1.2679 9/19/2024 (710)                    - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 315,977 DKK 2,773,619 1.2679 9/19/2024 (717)                    - 
Barclays Bank EUR 347,236 USD 374,211 1.0777 9/19/2024 (718)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 343,595 EUR 404,715 1.2679 9/19/2024 (741)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank EUR 347,202 USD 374,211 1.0778 9/19/2024 (755)                    - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 320,895 DKK 2,817,220 1.2679 9/19/2024 (791)                    - 
Morgan Stanley EUR 434,017 USD 467,764 1.0778 9/19/2024 (928)                    - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 429,478 EUR 505,894 1.2679 9/19/2024 (946)                    - 
Barclays Bank GBP 208,015 USD 264,065 1.2694 9/19/2024 (968)                    - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 208,006 USD 264,065 1.2695 9/19/2024 (980)                    - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 449,322 DKK 3,944,107 1.2679 9/19/2024 (1,020)                 - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 259,999 USD 330,081 1.2695 9/19/2024 (1,235)                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 601,292 EUR 708,252 1.2679 9/19/2024 (1,297)                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank EUR 607,603 USD 654,869 1.0778 9/19/2024 (1,322)                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank DKK 3,169,001 AUD 685,872 0.1443 9/19/2024 (1,506)                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 364,027 USD 462,113 1.2694 9/19/2024 (1,694)                 - 
Barclays Bank GBP 1,848,902 EUR 2,177,637 1.2679 9/19/2024 (3,821)                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 1,848,770 EUR 2,177,637 1.2679 9/19/2024 (3,987)                 - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 2,310,879 EUR 2,722,046 1.2679 9/19/2024 (5,091)                 - 
Barclays Bank GBP 1,119,261 USD 1,420,843 1.2694 9/19/2024 (5,209)                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 1,119,210 USD 1,420,843 1.2695 9/19/2024 (5,273)                 - 
Barclays Bank GBP 2,629,153 EUR 3,096,617 1.2679 9/19/2024 (5,433)                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 2,628,966 EUR 3,096,617 1.2679 9/19/2024 (5,670)                 - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 1,398,969 USD 1,776,054 1.2695 9/19/2024 (6,646)                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 3,235,348 EUR 3,810,865 1.2679 9/19/2024 (6,977)                 - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 3,286,087 EUR 3,870,771 1.2679 9/19/2024 (7,239)                 - 
Barclays Bank GBP 1,591,597 USD 2,020,450 1.2694 9/19/2024 (7,407)                 - 
JP Morgan Chase Bank GBP 1,591,525 USD 2,020,450 1.2695 9/19/2024 (7,499)                 - 
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Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
As at 30 June 2024 
 

Financial liabilites at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.00%  (2023: 0.00% ) (Continued)

Counterparty Currency Buys Currency Sells Currency Maturity Unrealised %  of
Rate Date Loss Net Assets

USD

Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 1,958,705 USD 2,486,476 1.2694 9/19/2024 (9,117)                 - 
Morgan Stanley GBP 1,989,345 USD 2,525,562 1.2695 9/19/2024 (9,451)                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 4,600,690 EUR 5,419,079 1.2679 9/19/2024 (9,922)                 - 
Australia and New 
Zealand Bank GBP 2,785,293 USD 3,535,787 1.2694 9/19/2024 (12,966)               (0.01)           

Total Unrealised Losses on Forward Currency Contracts (132,974)           (0.01)          

Total Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (132,974)           (0.01)          

Fair Value %  of
USD Net Assets

Total Value of Investments 1,750,205,780 97.83         

Cash 26,911,840       1.50            

Other Net Assets 11,723,444       0.67            

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable
Participating Shares 1,788,841,064 100.00       

%  of
Portfolio classification (unaudited) Total Assets
Transferable securities admitted to official instruments admitted to offical stock exchange listing or traded 97.02           
on a regulated market
Financial derivative instruments dealt in on the over-the-counter market 0.06             
Other assets 2.92             
Total Assets 100.00       
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Schedule of Portfolio Changes (Unaudited) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

 

This statement presents the aggregate purchases and sales of a security exceeding 1% of the total value of purchases 
and sales for the year or at least the top 20 purchases and sales. 
 

Nominal Largest Purchases Cost
USD

2,172,181        Orsted AS DKK1.00 135,417,775
1,016,012        Consolidated Edison Inc Com USD0.10 91,809,327
2,561,939        Exelon Corporation NPV 89,277,616
1,234,977        Pinnacle West Capital Corporation NPV 84,451,885
2,363,099        RWE AG Class A NPV 81,976,326
3,763,611        Redeia Corp SA Com EUR0.50 62,132,734

313,361           Aena SME SA EUR10.00 61,951,729
511,618           Elia Group SA Com NPV 55,778,757

4,633,460        National Grid Com GBP0.12 52,706,353
1,400,177        Cellnex Telecom SA Com EUR0.25 52,367,647

464,640           American Electric Power Co Inc Com USD6.50 38,528,567
1,204,890        Severn Trent Com GBP0.98 35,517,973
4,326,516        Snam SpA Com NPV 20,773,113

396,662           Fraport AG Frankfurt Airport Services Worldwide Com NPV 19,806,581
1,417,120        United Utilities Group Com GBP0.05 18,532,609

447,684           Avangrid Inc Com USD0.01 15,466,226
345,564           Portland General Electric Co Com NPV 15,418,648

1,729,091        SES SA Receipt NPV 10,575,834
76,405             Aeroports de Paris Com EUR3.00 10,417,434

823,951           Terna Rete Elettrica Nazionale SpA Com EUR0.22 6,911,671  
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Schedule of Portfolio Changes (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

 

Nominal Largest Sales Proceeds
USD

432,267 Norfolk Southern Corp Com USD1.00 101,971,978
7,574,580 E.ON SE Com NPV 100,723,805
1,702,320 Orsted AS DKK1.00 99,751,832

13,880,679 Enel SpA Com EUR1.00 92,846,372
1,462,495 Public Service Enterprise Group Inc Com NPV 88,947,761

681,564 Aeroports de Paris Com EUR3.00 84,211,737
947,285 American Electric Power Co Inc Com USD6.50 79,276,053
846,014 Consolidated Edison Inc Com USD0.10 78,753,703

3,763,611 Redeia Corp SA Com EUR0.50 59,974,209
2,579,240 United Utilities Group Com GBP0.05 34,685,196

619,899 Fraport AG Frankfurt Airport Services Worldwide Com NPV 34,601,421
1,124,689 Severn Trent Com GBP0.98 34,298,778

460,809 Edison International Com NPV 33,614,254
4,119,473 SES SA Receipt NPV 25,252,885
2,436,873 Terna Rete Elettrica Nazionale SpA Com EUR0.22 20,001,794

987,333 Getlink SE Com EUR0.40 16,830,441
454,039 Avangrid Inc Com USD0.01 16,145,946

2,333,621 Eutelsat Communications SA Com EUR1.00 15,815,110
900,396 National Grid Com GBP0.12 12,241,610
254,509 Portland General Electric Co Com NPV 11,189,768  

 

The schedule of significant portfolio movements reflects the material changes in the portfolio which is defined as the 
aggregate purchases of a security exceeding 1 per cent of the total value of purchases for the financial year and/or 
aggregate disposals greater than 1 per cent of the total value of disposals for the financial year. If there are fewer than 
20 purchases/disposals that meet the material changes definition, the Sub-Fund shall disclose those purchases/disposals 
and such number of the next largest purchases/disposals so at least 20 purchases/sales are disclosed.



ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV      Annual Report and Audited 
 Financial Statements 2024 

58 
  

Appendix 1 – UCITS V Remuneration Disclosures (Unaudited)  

The Manager has designed and implemented a remuneration policy (the “Policy”) in line with the provisions of S.I. 257 
of 2013 European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (the “AIFM Regulations”), S.I. 
352 of 2011 European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 
2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”) and of the ESMA Guidelines on sound remuneration policies under the 
UCITS Directive and AIFMD (the “ESMA Guidelines”). The Policy is designed to ensure that the remuneration of key 
decision makers is aligned with the management of short and long-term risks, including the oversight and where 
appropriate the management of sustainability risks in line with the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulations. 
 
The Manager’s remuneration policy applies to its identified staff whose professional activities might have a material 
impact on the ICAV’s risk profile and so covers senior management, risk takers, control functions and any employees 
receiving total remuneration that takes them into the same remuneration bracket as senior management and risk takers 
and whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the ICAV. The Manager’s policy is to pay 
identified staff a fixed component with the potential for identified staff to receive a variable component. It is intended 
that the fixed component will represent a sufficiently high proportion of the total remuneration of the individual to 
allow the Manager to operate a fully flexible policy, with the possibility of not paying any variable component. When 
the Manager pays a variable component as performance related pay certain criteria, as set out in the Manager’s 
remuneration policy, must be adhered to. The various remuneration components are combined to ensure an appropriate 
and balanced remuneration package that reflects the relevant staff rank and professional activity as well as best market 
practice. The Manager’s remuneration policy is consistent with, and promotes, sound and effective risk management 
and does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile of the funds it manages. 
 
ATLAS Infrastructure Partners (UK) Limited (the “Investment Manager”) is subject to regulatory requirements on 
remuneration under the MIFID and it adheres to the requirements regarding remuneration which apply to it under SYSC 
 
19 of the UK FCA Rules and the UCITS Regulations. Note 9 to the financial statements describes the risks associated 
with investing in the ICAV. For additional information regarding the ICAV’s risk profile and information regarding 
how the Manager and Investment Manager seeks to manage conflicts of interest, please refer to the ICAV’s Prospectus. 
 
The Investment Manager is subject to regulatory requirements on remuneration under the Financial Conduct Authority 
that are equally as effective as those applicable to the Manager pursuant to the UCITS Regulations  . 
 
These disclosures are made in respect of the remuneration policies of the Manager. The disclosures are made in 
accordance with the ESMA Guidelines.  
 
Total remuneration (in EUR) paid to the identified staff of the Manager fully or partly involved in the activities of the 
ICAV that have a material impact on the ICAV’s risk profile during the financial year to 31 December 2023 (the 
Manager’s financial year): 
 

 31 December 2023 
 

Fixed remuneration  EUR 
 

Senior management  1,578,804 
 

Other identified staff  - 
 

 
Variable remuneration  
Senior management  28,006  
Other identified staff  -  
Total remuneration paid  1,606,810 

 

 
No. of identified staff: 17  
 
Neither the Manager nor the ICAV pays any fixed or variable remuneration to identified staff of the Investment 
Manager. 
 
On 29 September 2023, KBA Consulting Management Limited, the Manager of the ICAV, completed its merger with 
Waystone Management Company (IE) Limited (“WMC”). WMC is the surviving entity post-merger and as such, the 
ICAV’s Manager is WMC from this date and the above remuneration figures are the total remuneration for WMC.  
 
There have been no material changes made to the Remuneration Policy or the Manager’s remuneration practices and 
procedures during the financial year. 
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Appendix 1 – UCITS V Remuneration Disclosures (Unaudited) (Continued) 
 
Remuneration Disclosure of the Investment Manager  
The Investment Manager has remuneration policies and practices which apply to its staff whose professional activities 
might have a material impact on the ICAV’s risk profile and so covers senior management, risk takers, control functions 
and any employees receiving total remuneration that takes them into the same remuneration bracket as senior 
management and risk takers and whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the ICAV 
(“Identified Staff”) which it believes are: (i) consistent with and promote sound and effective risk management and do 
not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the investment objectives and policies and the investment 
restrictions of the ICAV and (ii) appropriate to the size, internal organisation and the nature, scope and complexity of 
the Investment Manager’s activities. 
 
Total remuneration paid to the staff of the Investment Manager fully or partly involved in the activities of the ICAV that 
have a material impact on the ICAV’s risk profile during the year to 30 June 2024: 
  
 
 30 June 2024  
Fixed remuneration  EUR  
Senior management  1,835,458  
Other identified staff  -  

 
Variable remuneration  
Senior management  847,971  
Other identified staff  -  
Total remuneration paid  2,683,429  
 
No. of beneficiaries: 6 
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Appendix 2 – Securities Financing Transactions Disclosure (Unaudited)  
 
A Securities Financing Transaction (“SFT”) is defined as per Article 3(11) of the Securities Financing Transactions 
Regulation as:  

a repurchase transaction;  
securities or commodities lending and securities or commodities borrowing;  
a buy-sell back transaction or sell-buy back transaction; or  
a margin lending transaction.  

 
UCITS are required to disclose the use of SFTs. 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 or prior year ended 30 June 2023, the ATLAS Global Infrastructure UCITS ICAV did 
not trade in any SFTs. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



61 

NTAC:3NS-20 

ANNEX IV 

Template periodic disclosure for the financial products referred to in Article 8, paragraphs 1, 2 and 

2a, of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6, first paragraph, of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 

Product name: ATLAS Global Infrastructure Fund  Legal entity identifier: 213800C2NA8TIT5CYZ71 

Environmental and/or social characteristics 

To what extent were the environmental and/or social characteristics promoted 

by this financial product met?  

The environmental and/or social characteristics promoted by the ATLAS Global Infrastructure 

Fund (the “Fund”) included: 

1. Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions reduction

Under the Net Zero Asset Manager’s (“NZAM”) initiative, the Investment Manager (ATLAS 

Infrastructure Partners (UK) Ltd.) has committed to achieving net zero emissions across all of 

Did this financial product have a sustainable investment objective? 

Yes No 

It made sustainable 

investments with an 

environmental objective: ___% 

in economic activities that 

qualify as environmentally 

sustainable under the EU 

Taxonomy 

in economic activities that do 

not qualify as environmentally 

sustainable under the EU 

Taxonomy 

It promoted Environmental/Social (E/S) 
characteristics and 
while it did not have as its objective a 
sustainable investment, it had a proportion of 
85% of sustainable investments 

with an environmental objective in economic 

activities that qualify as environmentally 

sustainable under the EU Taxonomy 

with an environmental objective in 
economic activities that do not qualify as 
environmentally sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy 

with a social objective 

It made sustainable investments 

with a social objective: ___% 

It promoted E/S characteristics, but did not 
make any sustainable investments 

Sustainable 
investment means 
an investment in an 
economic activity 
that contributes to 
an environmental or 
social objective, 
provided that the 
investment does not 
significantly harm 
any environmental or 
social objective and 
that the investee 
companies follow 
good governance 
practices. 

The EU Taxonomy is 
a classification 
system laid down in 
Regulation (EU) 
2020/852, 
establishing a list of 
environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities. 
That Regulation 
does not include a 
list of socially 
sustainable 
economic activities.  
Sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective might be 
aligned with the 
Taxonomy or not.   

Sustainability 
indicators measure 
how the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics 
promoted by the 
financial product 
are attained. 
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the Fund’s investments by 2050 and has set an interim 2030 target to align with this goal. 

The interim 2030 target includes a minimum GHG emissions reduction goal of 39.2% by 2030 

relative to 2019 levels or a 4.4% annualised reduction over the period. 

As of 30 June 2024, the GHG emisisons of portfolio companies were 39% lower than the 2019 

baseline compared to the minimum reduction target of 21% by 31 December 2024, which 

was set based on the annualised reduction rate of 4.4% required to achieve our cumulative 

emissions reduction target of 39.2% by 2030 relative to 2019 levels, applied over the period 

2019 to 2023. 

The Investment Manager also incorporated the Science Based Targets initiative (“SBTi”) 

methodology for emissions reduction pathways for assets in the investment universe. Where 

a Sector Decarbonisation Approach (“SDA”) is available with specific pathways for assets 

these are utilised, otherwise an Absolute Contraction approach is applied. The SDA is 

currently used for electricity generation, transport assets, and communications assets. The 

Absolute Contraction approach targets a fixed reduction in emissions by the end of 2030 

(30% and 60% reductions vs 2019 for Below 2 Degrees and 1.5 Degree scenarios, respectively) 

and 2050 (100% reductions for both scenarios). 

2. Paris Agreement alignment

The Investment Manager was a founding signatory of the Net Zero Asset Manager’s Paris 

Aligned Investment Initiative (“PAII”) in December 2020.  Under the PAII framework, the 

Investment Manager is required to assess investments’ performance categorically. As part of 

the Investment Manager’s implementation of the IIGCC PAII methodology. The Investment 

Manager classifies all portfolio and investment universe companies into one of four 

alignment categories based on a combination of: 

• Scope 1 and 2 emissions trajectory vs Science-Based Targets consistent with limiting

global warming to at least Well-Below 2 Degrees but ideally to below 1.5 Degrees

• Broad Scope 3 (“Network Emissions”) performance

• Company strategy including investment alignment, management alignment and

governance

From these, the Investment Manager determines an overall Final Classification for the 

company: Net Zero Aligned (“Tier 1”); Aligned to a Pathway (“Tier 2”); Potential to Transition 

(“Tier 3”) with material changes to company activities; or Misaligned (“Tier 4”). The 

Investment Manager collects data for the portfolio companies and for the investment 

universe and review the classifications at least bi-annually. 

The Fund aims to be at least 70% invested in companies in Paris alignment Tier 1 or 2 or under 

engagement, increasing to 100% in Tier 1 or 2 or under engagement by 2030. Over the period 
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1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 (the “reporting period”), this target was met and on average 

81% of the Fund was invested in companies classified in Tiers 1 or 2 or under engagement.1  

3. Contribution to other environmental and social objectives – climate mitigation and

adaption (EU Taxonomy) and other (UN Sustainable Development Goals)

Over the reporting period, on average 70% of the Fund was aligned with the EU Taxonomy 

on a capital expenditure (“capex”) basis, based on the Technical Screening Criteria. These 

investments promoted one or more of the environmental characteristics of climate 

mitigation and climate adaption. 

EU Taxonomy alignment data was calculated based on the regulatory technical standards 

(“RTS”) and sourced in line with the Investment Manager’s policy available on the Investment 

Manager’s website https://www.atlasinfrastructure.com/esg/ 

Over the reporting period, 85% of the Fund’s investments were aligned with one or more 

United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“UN SDGs”) on a capex basis. UN SDGs 

promote 17 environmental and social objectives as part of a United Nation’s initiative to 

guide sustainable and equitable human development around the world. 

 How did the sustainability indicators perform?  

1. Greenhouse Gas emissions reduction

Under the Net Zero Asset Manager’s initiative, the Investment Manager has 

committed to achieving net zero emissions across all of the Fund’s investments by 

2050 and has set an interim 2030 target to align with this goal. 

The Fund’s portfolio baseline emissions are set using the 2019 EVIC accounted 

Scope 1 & 2 emissions for the portfolio as comprised at the end of the 2020 calendar 

year, when the Investment Manager first set a target. The target is set based on the 

Below 2 Degrees Scenario (“B2DS”) as modelled by the SBTi, which would equate 

to a target reduction of -39.2% by 2030 relative to 2019 levels. 

The changes over time are shown disaggregated by portfolio composition change 

(“portfolio change”) and how emissions projections of companies held have 

changed (“company change”). Until a company releases their emissions data, and 

a model is updated, emissions projections reflect the Investment Manager’s 

assumptions.  

As of 30 June 2024, the GHG emisisons of portfolio companies were 39% lower than 

the 2019 baseline compared to the minimum reduction target of 21% by 31 

1 Since the last reporting period we have updated how this metric is calculated. It now reflects the share of the
portfolio that is invested in companies in Tiers 1 and 2. Previously, it reflected the share of portolio companies in 
Tiers 1 and 2 and therefore did not take into account portfolio weightings. In the Periodic Disclosure for the year-
ending 30 June 2023, we reported a value of 71%. Under the new methodlogy this value would have been 74%. 

https://www.atlasinfrastructure.com/esg/
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December 2024, which was calculated based on the annualised reduction rate of 

4.4% required to achieve our cumulative emissions reduction target of 39.2% by 

2030 relative to 2019 levels. 

Source: ATLAS Infrastructure 

2. Paris Agreement alignment

Under the PAII framework, The Investment Manager is required to assess 

investments’ performance categorically. As part of the Investment Manager’s 

implementation of the IIGCC PAII methodology, portfolio and investment universe 

companies are classified into one of four alignment categories based on the 

classification system outlined above. 

The Investment Manager’s Global Strategy is to be at least 70% invested in 

companies in the Net Zero Aligned (“Tier 1”) or Aligned to a Pathway (“Tier 2”), or 

under engagement, increasing to 100% in Tier 1 or 2 or under engagement by 2030. 

The Investment Manager estimated that over the reporting period, 81% of the 

portfolio was invested in companies classified in Tiers 1 or 2 or were under 

engagement, on a share of assets under management basis: 
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Source: ATLAS Infrastructure. Average calculated based on the Fund’s portfolio on 
five snapshot dates: 1 July 2023, 30 Sep 2023, 31 Dec 2023, 31 Mar 2024, 30 Jun 
2024.  

…and compared to previous periods? 

At the end of the previous reporting period, 30 June 2023, the GHG emisisons of 

portfolio companies were 31% lower than the 2019 baseline compared to the 

minimum reduction target of 18% by 31 December 2023, which was calculated 

based on the annualsed reduction rate of 4.4% required to achieve our cumulative 

emissions reduction target of 39.2% by 2030 relative to 2019 levels. 

Over the previous reporting period ending 30 June 2023, on average 74% of the 

portfolio was invested in companies classified in Tiers 1 or 2 or were under 

engagement, on a share of assets under management basis. This compares to 81% 

over the latest period ending 30 June 2024. 

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial 

product partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such 

objectives 

The Fund partially invested in sustainable investments as defined in Article 2(17) of 

SFDR. These sustainable investments made a material contribution to one or more 

of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”).  

Over the reporting period, the average portfolio was invested in the following 

infrastructure sub-sectors, whose estimated contribution to the UN SDGs is shown 

in the following table. 

29%

47%

17%

4%

Average Paris Agreement alignment classification

Net Zero Aligned pathway Potential to Transition Under Engagment
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Source: ATLAS Infrastructure. Average calculated based on the Fund’s portfolio on 
five snapshot dates: 1 July 2023, 30 Sep 2023, 31 Dec 2023, 31 Mar 2024, 30 Jun 
2024.  

The contribution to UN SDGs by infrastructure sub-sectors has been estimated by 

the Investment Manager as follows: 

Infrastructure 
activities 

UN 
SDG(s) 

Sub criteria, inclusions & exclusions applied by the Fund 

Airports, Toll Roads, 
Rail, Seaports 

9 9.1) “Develop quality, reliable, sustainable and resilient 
infrastructure, support economic development and human 
well-being, with a focus on affordable and equitable access for 
all” Must meet “quality, reliability, sustainability, resiliency 
and affordability” thresholds. Only transport activities aligned 
(commercial activities not aligned) 

Water 6 6.1) “By 2030, achieve universal and equitable access to safe 
and affordable drinking water for all”.  

6.3) “By 2030, improve water quality by reducing pollution, 
eliminating dumping and minimizing release of hazardous 
chemicals and materials” 

Waste 11,12 11.6) “By 2030, reduce the adverse per capita environmental 
impact of cities, including by paying special attention to air 
quality and municipal and other waste management”. 

12.4) “achieve the environmentally sound management of 
chemicals all wastes throughout their life cycle” 

Communications 
(satellite, network, 
cable & towers) 

9 9.c) “Significantly increase access to information and 
communications technology and strive to provide universal
and affordable access to the Internet”

Electric Networks 
(transmission & 
distribution) 

7,9 7.1) “ensure universal access to affordable, reliable and 
modern energy services”. 

7%

9%

44%
7%

7%

9%

3% 12%

Sector Exposure
Airport

Communications

Electric Utilities

Gas Utilities

Railway

Renewable energy

Toll road

Water
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Infrastructure 
activities 

UN 
SDG(s) 

Sub criteria, inclusions & exclusions applied by the Fund 

9.1) “Develop quality, reliable, sustainable and resilient 
infrastructure, including regional and trans-border 
infrastructure, to support economic development and human 
well-being, with a focus on affordable and equitable access for 
all” 

Renewable Energy 7 7.2) “By 2030, increase substantially the share of renewable 
energy in the global energy mix” 

Over the reporting period, 85% of the Fund was invested in companies aligned with 

one or more UN SDGs on a capex basis. The estimated average alignment of the 

portfolio with one or more UN SDGs on the basis of capex and other metrics over 

the reporting period is shown below. 

Source: ATLAS Infrastructure. Average calculated based the Fund’s portfolio on five 
snapshot dates: 1 July 2023, 30 Sep 2023, 31 Dec 2023, 31 Mar 2024, 30 Jun 2024.  

The Fund also contributed towards one or more of the environmental 
characteristics of climate mitigation and climate adaption: Over the reporting 
period, on average 70% of the portfolio was aligned with the EU Taxonomy on a 
capex basis.  

EU Taxonomy alignment data was calculated based on the RTS and sourced in line 
with the Investment Manager’s policy available on the Investment Manager’s 
website https://www.atlasinfrastructure.com/esg/ 

How did the sustainable investments that the financial product partially made not 

cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable investment 

objective?  

78% 76%
85%
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The Investment Manager sought to ensure that the investments in the Fund did no 
significant harm (“DNSH”) to any environmental or social objectives. There are 
three ways in which an asset is assessed against the risk of causing significant harm 
to environmental or social objectives: 

1. As part of the Investment Manager's climate alignment metrics, all
companies within the Fund’s portfolio were categorised into one of four
tiers. Any Misaligned assets (“Tier 4”) were considered as being of
significant harm to environmental objectives. The portfolio was not
exposed to Tier 4 companies over the reporting period;

2. Assets were also assessed against the 14 mandatory and 2 optional
Principal Adverse Indicators (“PAI”) deemed to be relevant for the
Investment Manager’s investment universe, whereby any adverse
outcomes or changes were investigated as part of the due diligence process
and any potential areas of significant harm were identified. The two
optional indicators assessed were “Operations and Suppliers Exposed to
Forced or Compulsary Labour” and “Rate of Accidents”. Based on the
Investment Manager’s monitoring and investigation of these PAIs, no
significant harm was identified over the reporting period;

3. In support of the above processes, the Investment Manager also monitored
third party ESG qualitative and quantitative data  relating to the PAIs and
other impact metrics to identify any additional potential adverse impacts
and investigated any material signals through the due diligence process.

More detail on the above processes and outcomes during the reporting period are 
provided below. 

Paris Agreement alignment: 

Over the reporting period, the Fund on average had no exposure to Misaligned 
(“Tier 4”) investee companies that could be considered as being of significant harm 
to environmental objectives.  

Principal Adverse Impacts monitoring: 

The Investment Manager monitors against the PAI indicators and currently reports 
against the 14 mandatory indicators and 2 optional indicators that have been 
identified as relevant to the investment universe.  

The Investment Manager reviewed portfolio company performance and risk 
exposure against PAI 1-14 through internal due diligence as well as specialist 
external data providers. Portfolio company performance and risk exposure was 
monitored on a weekly basis by the Investment Manager’s Investment Committee 
and any issues identified were then reviewed by the  Investment Manager’s 
investment team and, if deemed potentially material, would result in a formal PAI 
investigation. 
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Over the reporting period, the Investment Manager closed three PAI-related 
investigations relating to portfolio companies, launched as a result of potential 
breaches identified during weekly monitoring. A US rail company was investigated 
under PAI 7 & 8 following a train derailment. Two UK Water companies were 
investigated under PAI 8 following extensive accusations of unauthorised sewage 
discharges. In all cases, ATLAS found insufficient evidence of management 
responsibility for adverse impact or Do No Significant Harm breaches. 

How were the indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors taken 
into account?  

The Investment Manager identified, prioritised and incorporated mandatory 
PAI 1-14 in addition to two optional indicators deemed relevant for the 
investment universe as follows: 

• quantitative and qualitative information from the third-party ESG data
providers was reviewed for the Fund’s portfolio of companies on a
weekly basis;

• identified where there is a material risk or change in risk under a PAI.
The thresholds for material risk used are partly quantitative—
including the company’s PAI relative to the investment universe
average—and partly qualitative based on monitoring of newsflow that
may not be immediately reflected in quantitative assessments;

• determinations were recorded internally on the research
management system, including any follow up with portfolio company
management and whether or not the issue is raised as part of a formal
engagement with the company;

• determinations were also  recorded against the company taxonomy
classification where it was relevant to the Do No Significant Harm
(‘DNSH’) screening criteria; and

• determinations were also  used to determine the eligibility of the asset
as a sustainable investment

Over the reporting period, the Investment Manager closed three separate 
company PAI investigations, relating to portfolio companies. A US rail company 
was investigated under PAI 7 & 8 following a train derailment. Two UK Water 
companies were investigated under PAI 8 following extensive accusations of 
unauthorised sewage discharges. In all cases, ATLAS found insufficient 
evidence of management responsibility for adverse impact or Do No 
Significant Harm breaches. 

Principal adverse 
impacts are the 
most significant 
negative impacts of 
investment 
decisions on 
sustainability factors 
relating to 
environmental, 
social and employee 
matters, respect for 
human rights, anti‐
corruption and anti‐
bribery matters. 
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Company Headline 
Investigation 
status 

Adverse 
Sustainability 
Indicator 

Comment Outcome 

Water 
Companies 
1 and 2 

Sewage 
discharges 
into rivers 

Closed 7 Mar 
2024 

8. Emissions to
water

Raw sewage was 
pumped directly into 
water 

Conclusion that there is no 
clear evidence of systemic 
poor decisions by 
management leading to 
potential pollution. The 
company appears to have 
added storage capacity, 
enhanced existing facilities, 
had above-sector average 
environmental rankings, 
have not had treatment 
volumes decline and also 
reinvested the Totex 
efficiencies into the 
business in the historical 
regulatory periods. 

US Rail 
Company 

Train 
derailment 

Closed 18 
Oct 2023 

7. Activities 
negatively
affecting 
biodiversity
sensitive areas

Reports and 
anecdotal accounts 
of dead fish being 
found in nearby 
waterways. Burning 
of chemicals may 
have released 
hazardous gases into 
airways. 

The engagement did not 
find any evidence that the 
company has been taking 
actions that may have 
adversely impacted safety 
and directly contributed to 
the derailment. The 
provisional NTSB report 
into the accident found no 
fault with Norfolk Southern 
operations or procedures 
that would have 
contributed to the 
accident. Our analysis of 
the longer term safety 
performance of NSC vs the 
sector has concluded that 
the company is performing 
in line or better than peers. 

8. Emissions to
water

Media reporting 
emissions from the 
derailment may have 
run into nearby 
waterways. 

Were sustainable investments aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights? Details:  

The Investment Manager screened potential investments against violations of 
the UN Global Compact, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and 
the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights using external ESG 
data service providers and any companies with material violations were 
excluded unless due diligence established that that violation had been fully 
remedied by a company and there was limited risk of the violation happening 
again. 
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Over the reporting period, the Investment Manager compared the portfolio 
PAI 10 (Breach of UN Global Compact Principles & OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises-SFDR ) and PAI 11 (Lack of Processes & Compliance 
Mechanisms to Monitor Compliance with UN Global Compact Principles & 
OECD Guidelines for MNEs-SFDR) assessment to the Investment Manager’s 
coverage universe and a sample of infrastructure indices based on data 
provided by third-party, Sustainalytics.  

The Investment Manager assessed that over the reporting period sustainable 
investments were aligned with the OECD Guidelines for Multinational 
Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, on 
the basis that the portfolio performed better than the coverage universe and 
related infrastructure indices on these metrics. 

How did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on 

sustainability factors? 

The Investment Manager monitors and reports against the PAI indicators. The Investment 

Manager currently report against the 14 mandatory and 2 optional indicators deemed to 

be relevant for the investment universe. The Investment Manager reviewed portfolio 

company performance and risk exposure against PAI 1-14 through internal due diligence 

as well as specialist external data providers. Portfolio company performance and risk 

exposure was monitored on a weekly basis by the Investment Manager’s Investment 

Committee and any issues identified are then reviewed by the  Investment Manager’s 

investment team and, if deemed potentially material, will result in a formal PAI 

investigation. 

As part of the above, the Investment Manager monitors and reports against PAI indicators 

related to social characteristics by monitoring PAI 10 (Violations of UN Global Compact, 

which includes human rights and labour principles), PAI 11 (which assess a company’s 

processes to monitor UNGC principles), PAI 12 (gender pay gap), and PAI 13 (gender 

diversity). 

The EU Taxonomy sets out a “do not significant harm” principle by which 
Taxonomy-aligned investments should not significantly harm EU Taxonomy 
objectives and is accompanied by specific Union criteria.  

The “do no significant harm” principle applies only to those investments 
underlying the financial product that take into account the EU criteria for 
environmentally sustainable economic activities. The investments underlying the 
remaining portion of this financial product do not take into account the EU criteria 
for environmentally sustainable economic activities. 

 Any other sustainable investments must also not significantly harm any 
environmental or social objectives. 
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Over the reporting period, the Investment Manager closed three separate company PAI 

investigations,  relating to portfolio companies. A US rail company was investigated under 

PAI 7 & 8 following a train derailment. Two portfolio UK Water companies were 

investigated under PAI 8 following extensive accusations of unauthorised sewage 

discharges. A summary of the portfolio company investigations undertaken during the 

reporting period is provided in the table below: 

Company Headline 
Investigation 
status 

Adverse 
Sustainability 
Indicator 

Comment Outcome 

Water 
Companies 
1 and 2 

Sewage 
discharges 
into rivers 

Closed 7 Mar 
2024 

8. Emissions to
water

Raw sewage was 
pumped directly into 
water 

Conclusion that there is no 
clear evidence of systemic 
poor decisions by 
management leading to 
potential pollution. The 
company appears to have 
added storage capacity, 
enhanced existing facilities, 
had above-sector average 
environmental rankings, 
have not had treatment 
volumes decline and also 
reinvested the Totex 
efficiencies into the 
business in the historical 
regulatory periods. 

US Rail 
Company 

Train 
derailment 

Closed 18 
Oct 2023 

7. Activities 
negatively
affecting 
biodiversity
sensitive areas

Reports and 
anecdotal accounts 
of dead fish being 
found in nearby 
waterways. Burning 
of chemicals may 
have released 
hazardous gases into 
airways. 

The engagement did not 
find any evidence that the 
company has been taking 
actions that may have 
adversely impacted safety 
and directly contributed to 
the derailment. The 
provisional NTSB report 
into the accident found no 
fault with Norfolk Southern 
operations or procedures 
that would have 
contributed to the 
accident. Our analysis of 
the longer-term safety 
performance of NSC vs the 
sector has concluded that 
the company is performing 
in line or better than peers. 

8. Emissions to
water

Media reporting 
emissions from the 
derailment may have 
run into nearby 
waterways. 

What were the top investments of this financial product? 

Over the reporting period, the average top investments in the Fund’s portfolio 

were as follows: 
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Largest Investments Sector % Assets Country 

Edison International North American Utilities 7.90% United States 

Terna S.p.A. European Utilities 7.81% Italy 

SES SA FDR (Class A) Communications 7.75% Luxembourg 

United Utilities Group PLC UK Utilities 7.56% United Kingdom 

Orsted Renewables 6.49% Denmark 

Enel SpA European Utilities 5.32% Italy 

National Grid plc UK Utilities 5.32% United Kingdom 

Fraport AG Airports 4.61% Germany 

Severn Trent Plc UK Utilities 4.55% United Kingdom 

Getlink SE Rail 4.53% France 

Source: ATLAS Infrastructure. Average calculated based the Fund’s portfolio on five 
snapshot dates: 1 July 2023, 30 Sep 2023, 31 Dec 2023, 31 Mar 2024, 30 Jun 2024. 

What was the proportion of sustainability-related investments? 

What was the asset allocation? 

Over the reporting period, on average 85% of the Fund comprised sustainable 

investments as defined under with Article 2 (17) in SFDR, without causing any 

significant harm to any environmental or social objectives.  

70% of the Fund comprised investments with an environmental objective aligned 

with the EU Taxonomy on a capex basis. 

Asset allocation 
describes the 
share of 
investments in 
specific assets. 

The list includes the 
investments 
constituting the 
greatest proportion 
of investments of 
the financial product 
during the reference 
period which is: 1 
July 2023 to 30 June 
2024 

To comply with the 
EU Taxonomy, the 
criteria for fossil gas 
include limitations 
on emissions and 
switching to fully 
renewable power or 
low-carbon fuels by 
the end of 2035. For 
nuclear energy, the 
criteria include 
comprehensive 
safety and waste 
management rules. 

Enabling activities 
directly enable 
other activities to 
make a substantial 
contribution to an 
environmental 
objective. 

Transitional 
activities are 
activities for which 
low-carbon 
alternatives are not 
yet available and 
among others have 
greenhouse gas 
emission levels  
corresponding to the 
best performance. 
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In which economic sectors were the investments made 

Over the reporting period the average look-through sub-sector exposure of the 

portfolio on an enterprise value (USD) weighted basis was as follows: 

Sector Portfolio weight 

Airport 7% 

Communications 9% 

Electric Utilities 44% 

Gas Utilities 7% 

Railway 7% 

Renewable energy 9% 

Toll road 3% 

Water 12% 

Source: ATLAS Infrastructure. Average calculated based the Fund’s portfolio on five 
snapshot dates: 1 July 2023, 30 Sep 2023, 31 Dec 2023, 31 Mar 2024, 30 Jun 2024. 

The gas utility sector and a portion of railway sector investments over the reporting 
period were involved in the transportation of fossil fuels as referred to in Article 54. 

To what extent were the sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective aligned with the EU Taxonomy? 

The investment process requires detailed modelling of each infrastructure company at 
the individual asset level. The Investment Manager assesses company activities against 
the Technical Screening Criteria for the EU Taxonomy to derive estimates of eligibility 

#1 Aligned with E/S characteristics includes the investments of the financial product used to attain the 

environmental or social characteristics promoted by the financial product. 

#2Other includes the remaining investments of the financial product which are neither aligned with the 
environmental or social characteristics, nor are qualified as sustainable investments. 

The category #1 Aligned with E/S characteristics covers: 
- The sub-category #1A Sustainable covers environmentally and socially sustainable investments.
- The sub-category #1B Other E/S characteristics covers investments aligned with the environmental or
social characteristics that do not qualify as sustainable investments.

Investments

98% #1 Aligned 
with E/S 

characteristics

85% #1A 
Sustainable 

70% Taxonomy-
aligned

15% Other 
environmental

13% #1B Other 
E/S 

characteristics

2% #2 Other



75 

NTAC:3NS-20 

and alignment for each company in the investment universe and the portfolio at the 
revenue, opex and capex level. The Investment Manager’s assessment is compared 
with those provided by the companies themselves and third party data, where 
available. 

In total, sustainable investments with an environmental objective aligned with the EU 
Taxonomy comprised on average 82% of total sustainable investments over the 
reporting period. The remaining 18% comprised investments thatb were aligned with 
one or more UN SDG but were not aligned with the EU Taxonomy. 

EU Taxonomy alignment data will be calculated based on the RTS and sourced in line 
with the Investment Manager’s policy available on the Investment Manager’s website 
https://www.atlasinfrastructure.com/esg/ 

The level of EU Taxonomy alignment reported, has not been subject to an assurance 
or review provided by an auditor or third party 

Did the financial product invest in fossil gas and/or nuclear energy related 
activities complying with the EU Taxonomy? 

Yes: 

In fossil gas In nuclear energy 

No 

Taxonomy-aligned 
activities are 
expressed as a share 
of: 
- turnover

reflecting the
share of revenue
from green
activities of
investee
companies.

- capital
expenditure
(CapEx) showing
the green
investments made
by investee
companies, e.g. for
a transition to a
green economy.

- operational
expenditure
(OpEx) reflecting
green operational
activities of
investee
companies.

https://www.atlasinfrastructure.com/esg/
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What was the share of investments made in transitional and enabling activities? 

0%. The Investment Manager did not explicitly measure the share of investments 
made in transitional and enabling activities over the reporting period. 

How did the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy 
compare with previous reference periods?   

EU Taxonomy alignment of investments including and excluding sovereign bonds in 
the last reporting period, ending 30 June 2023, was 53% for capex, 40% for opex, 
and 42% for revenue. These numbers are restated from the 52%, 39% and 41%, 
respectively, presented in the last Periodic Disclosure, reflecting updated alignment 
data for one portfolio company. 

What was the share of sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective not aligned with the EU Taxonomy

The average share of the Fund’s portoflio that was invested in sustainable investments 
not aligned with the EU Taxonomy was 15% based on capex over the reporting period. 

The graphs below show in green the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy. 

As there is no appropriate methodology to determine the taxonomy-alignment of sovereign bonds*, the first 

graph shows the Taxonomy alignment in relation to all the investments of the financial product including 

sovereign bonds, while the second graph shows the Taxonomy alignment only in relation to the investments 

of the financial product other than sovereign bonds.  

* For the purpose of these graphs, ‘sovereign bonds’ consist of all sovereign exposures.

62%

60%

70%

38%

40%

30%

0% 50% 100%

Revenue

Opex

Capex

Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
including sovereign bonds*

Taxonomy-aligned: Ex-fossil gas and nuclear
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear
Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Not Taxonomy-aligned

62%

60%

70%

38%

40%

30%

0% 50% 100%

Revenue

Opex

Capex

Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
excluding sovereign bonds*

Taxonomy-aligned: Ex-fossil gas and nuclear
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear
Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Not Taxonomy-aligned

 are 
sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective that do 
not take into 
account the criteria 
for environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities 
under Regulation 
(EU) 2020/852.  
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This comprises the share of the portfolio that were aligned with one or more UN SDG 
but that were not aligned under the EU Taxonomy Technical Screening Criteria, 
measured in both cases on a capex basis. 

What was the share of socially sustainable investments?

0%. The Investment Manager did not explicitly measure the share of investments that 
contributed to a social objective. 

What investments were included under “other”, what was their purpose and 

were there any minimum environmental or social safeguards? 

Cash and unrealised FX hedging profit and loss primarily for efficient portfolio 
management and liquidity. No minimum environmental or social safeguards were in 
place for these investments. 

What actions have been taken to meet the environmental and/or social 

characteristics during the reference period? 

Company engagements: 

Over the reporting period, the Investment Manager had two active engagements with 

portfolio companys concerning their emissions reduction plans and Net Zero alignment. 

Those engagements were with an Italian gas utility and a US utility. An update to the US 

Utility engagment was made in April 2024 which recommended the closure of the 

engagement following the exit of the position. Details are provided below: 
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PAI Monitoring: 

The investment process includes a weekly monitoring and assessment of portfolio and 

non-portfolio ESG risks. These are then mapped against the Principal Adverse Indicators 

and potential breaches are identified for follow up and review for potential breaches of 

DNSH criteria. 

Over the reporting period, the Investment Manager closed three separate company PAI 

investigations relating to portfolio companies. A US rail company was investigated under 

PAI 7 & 8 following a train derailment. Two portfolio UK Water companies were 

investigated under PAI 8 following extensive accusations of unauthorised sewage 

discharges. 

A summary of the three engagements relating to PAIs 1-14 that were active during the 

reporting period is provided within Annex IV in a table above. 

Company Topic Status Engagement Objective & 
Outcomes 

Next Steps 

Italian gas utility Environmental – 
Climate   

Ongoing 
(opened 
December 
2022) 

A letter was sent to the 
company’s management. The 
company is collaborating 
with the Italian government 
to model a scenario in line 
with the RePowerEU 
framework. The company 
currently expects a reduction 
in gas supply volumes by 
2030 below the reduction 
envisaged in the Italian 
National Energy and Climate 
Plan. We continue to request 
better alignment. 

Monitoring 
corporate 
scenario 
planning 

US utility Environmental – 
Climate 

Closed April 
2024 

Outcome partially achieved. 
Projected company 
emissions were inconsistent 
with limiting warming to 
Below 2 Degrees at the 
engagement start (Oct-23) 
but had become consistent 
with updated company 
guidance by November 2023 
following engagement. 
Although the emissions 
performance improved, 
concerns around a lack of 
management focus on 
emissions alignment led to a 
higher risk weighting of 
holding the asset which 
contributed to ATLAS’ exiting 
from the position. 

The 
Investment 
Manager 
closed the 
engagement 
following 
the exit 
from the 
position in 
Q1 2024. 
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Greenhouse Gas emissions  reduction: 

As discussed earlier in this Annex, over the reporting period the Investment Manager 

estimated and reported the alignment of portfolio company emissions with Paris 

Agreement targets and against the portfolio emissions as of 2019. The Investment 

Manager has set a 39.2% minimum cumulative emissions reduction target for the period 

2019 to 2030 and measured portfolio performance against this target over the reporting 

period. 

Paris Agreement alignment: 

As discussed earlier in this Annex, the Investment Manager classified all portfolio and 

investment universe companies into one of four alignment categories based on their 

expected emissions alignment with Paris Agreement targets, their broad Scope 3 or 

“network” emissions, and the company strategy. The Investment Manager had a 

minimum share for Net Zero Aligned (Tier 1) and Aligned to a Pathway (Tier 2) and 

measured achieved performance over the period. 

EU Taxonomy and UN SDG elibibility and alignment: 

As discussed earlier in this Annex, over the reporting period the Investment Manager 

estimated and reported at the company and portfolio level the degree of eligibility and 

alignment with the EU Taxonomy based on Technical Screening Criteria. Alignment with 

UN Sustainable Development Goals was also estimated and reported. 

How did this financial product perform compared to the reference benchmark? 

How does the reference benchmark differ from a broad market index? 

Not applicable. 

How did this financial product perform with regard to the sustainability indicators 

to determine the alignment of the reference benchmark with the environmental 

or social characteristics promoted? 

Not applicable. 

How did this financial product perform compared with the reference benchmark? 

Not applicable. 

Reference 
benchmarks are 
indexes to 
measure whether 
the financial 
product attains the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics that 
they promote. 



80 

NTAC:3NS-20 

How did this financial product perform compared with the broad market index?` 

Not applicable. 
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